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GRIMM is proud to announce a solo exhibition by Gert Jan 
Kocken (1971 Ravenstein, NL). The exhibition Organized 
Complexity combines a selection from the artist’s eminent 
Depictions series with works from his Fission series. 

The exhibition will open during UNSEEN Photo Festival’s 
Open Gallery Night and is programmed to coincide with the 
commemoration of the Second World War, which started 
eighty years ago this year. Organized Complexity is the 
first exhibition by the artist with the gallery.

For almost a decade, Gert Jan Kocken has been working 
on his Depictions series; in this body of work hundreds of 
unearthed historical maps are used as source material 
to create expansive views of cities such as London, 
Amsterdam, Dresden, Rotterdam, Łódz, Warsaw, Berlin, 
Munich and Rome. The maps are scanned or photographed 
and methodically layered into a single digital image, 
subsequently rendered as a large digital C-print. The 
resulting compositions contain a welter of information 
representing the breakneck change, contradictory claims, 
and massive data production of the Second World War. 

The photographs visualize the conflicting ideologies 
which prevailed during the Second World War, the cities 
representing axes of fascism from East to West and from 
North to South. 

In Fission, the artist meticulously traces the origins 
of the nuclear program leading up to the bombings of 
both Hiroshima and Nagasaki through the use of texts, 
photographs of speeches, classified military documents 
and images. The resulting work is an entropic conjunction 
which must be both seen, and read, to fully grasp. 
Accompanying this work is a large photograph, Charles 
Sweeney, Pilot, B 29 Bock's Car, Nagasaki, 9 August 1945. 

Rounding out the exhibition is Kocken’s latest work; a 
palimpsest of German aerial photographs showing London 
bombing targets with text superimposed on the photographs 
to form a visualisation of the propaganda machine and the 
chronological course of the war. 

Gert Jan Kocken | Depictions of London | 2019

GERT JAN KOCKEN ORGANIZED COMPLEXITY 
FRANS HALSSTRAAT 26

Opening:  Saturday September 21st, 2019 from 6 pm until 8 pm
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About the artist

Gert Jan Kocken (1971 Ravenstein, NL) graduated from 
the Royal Academy of the Arts in The Hague in 1998 
and continued his curriculum at the Rijksakademie van 
Beeldende Kunsten in Amsterdam from 2011 to 2012. 
Kocken’s practice is based on ongoing research into the 
remembrance and visual representation of pivotal episodes 
in world history. When these episodes are committed to 
our collective memory, they form intricate constellations 
of facts, interpretations, opinions and visual impressions. 
This process of memorialization is influenced by official 
chronicles and mass media coverage, which offer clear-cut 
accounts of inherently ambiguous events. Kocken critically 
engages with these accounts, and offers multiple viewpoints 
which encourage the contemplation of alternative readings 
and counterfactual histories through the media of 
photography, digital assemblage and writing.

The work of Gert Jan Kocken has been widely exhibited. 
Recent exhibitions include; No You Won’t be Naming No 
Buildings After Me at TENT, Rotterdam (NL), 2019; Freedom, 
The Fifty Key Dutch Artworks Since 1968 at Museum de 
Fundatie, Zwolle (NL), 2019; Space of Exception, Fifth 
Moscow Biennial; Moscow (RU); Meer Macht at Museum de 
Fundatie, Zwolle (NL); Dread, Fear in the Age of Technological 
Acceleration, Museum De Hallen, Haarlem (NL); Dutch Art 
After 1945 at Stedelijk Museum, Schiedam (NL); Identity, 
Sammlung Hoffmann, Berlin (DE); Nature as Artifice 
shown at the George Eastman House, Rochester, NY (US); 
Aperture Foundation in New York, NY (US); Alte Pinakothek 
in Munich (DE) and at the Kröller-Müller Museum, Otterlo 
(NL); Questioning History at Nederlands Fotomuseum, 
Rotterdam (NL).

Notable collections include; Stedelijk Museum, Amsterdam 
(NL), Joods Historisch Museum, Amsterdam (NL), 
Sammlung Hoffmann, Berlin (DE), Kunstmuseum Wolfsburg 
(DE) among others.

“The only reason to treat nuclear power differently from all the other 
developments in the field of  physics is its staggering possibilities as 
a means of  political pressure in peace and sudden destruction in 
war. All present plans for the organization of  research, scientific and 
industrial development, and publication in the field of  nucleonics 
are conditioned by the political and military climate in which one 
expects those plans to be carried out. Therefore, in making sugges-
tions for the postwar organization of  nucleonics, a discussion of  
political problems cannot be avoided. The scientists on this Project 
do not presume to speak authoritatively on problems of  national 
and international policy. However, we found ourselves, by the force 
of  events, the last five years in the position of  a small group of  
citizens cognizant of  a grave danger for the safety of  this country as 
well as for the future of  all the other nations, of  which the rest of  
mankind is unaware. We therefore felt it our duty to urge that the 
political problems, arising from the mastering of  atomic power, be 
recognized in all their gravity, and that appropriate steps be taken 
for their study and the preparation of  necessary decisions.
[…]
[I]n the past, scientists could disclaim direct responsibility for the 
use to which mankind had put their disinterested discoveries. We 
cannot take the same attitude now because the success which we 
have achieved in the development of  nuclear power is fraught with 
infinitely greater dangers than were all the inventions of  the past.
[…]
[A]lthough we undoubtedly are at present ahead of  the rest of  the 
world in this field, the fundamental facts of  nuclear power are a 
subject of  common knowledge. … German scientists, in whose 
discoveries the whole development of  this field has originated, 
apparently did not develop it during the war to the same extent to 
which this has been done in America; but to the last day of  the 
European war, we have been living in constant apprehension as to 
their possible achievements. The knowledge that German scientists 
were working on this weapon and that their government certainly 
had no scruples against using it when available, was the main 
motivation of  the initiative which American scientists have taken in 
developing nuclear power on such a large scale for military use in 
this country. In Russia, too, the basic facts and implications of  
nuclear power were well understood in 1940, and the experiences of  
Russian scientists in nuclear research is entirely sufficient to enable 
them to retrace our steps within a few years, even if  we would make 
all attempts to conceal them. Furthermore, we should not expect too 
much success from attempts to keep basic information secret in 
peacetime, when scientists acquainted with the work on this and 
associated Projects will be scattered to many colleges and research 
institutions and many of  them will continue to work on problems 
closely related to those on which our developments are based. In 
other words, even if  we can retain our leadership in basic knowledge 
of  nucleonics for a certain time by maintaining the secrecy of  all 
results achieved on this and associated Projects, it would be foolish 

to hope that this can protect us for more than a few years.

It may be asked whether we cannot achieve a monopoly on the raw 
materials of  nuclear power. The answer is that even though the 
largest now known deposits of  uranium ores are under the control 
of  powers which belong to the ‘western’ group (Canada, Belgium 
and British Indies); the old deposits in Czechoslovakia are outside 
this sphere. Russia is known to be mining radium on its own territory; 
and even if  we do not know the size of  the deposits discovered so far 
in the USSR, the probability that no large reserves of  uranium will be 
found in a country which covers 1/5 of  the land area of  the earth 
(and whose sphere of  influence takes in additional territory), is too 
small to serve as a basis for security. Thus, we cannot hope to avoid 
a nuclear armament race, either by keeping secret from the com-
peting nations the basic scientific facts of  nuclear power, or by 
cornering the raw materials required for such a race.
[…]
If  no efficient international agreement is achieved, the race of  
nuclear armaments will be on in earnest not later than the morning 
after our first demonstration of  the existence of  nuclear weapons. 
After this, it might take other nations three or four years to over-
come our present head start, and 8 or 10 years to draw even with 
us if  we continue to do intensive work in this field.
[…]
[T]he way in which nuclear weapons, now secretly developed in this 
country, will first be revealed to the world appears of  great, per-
haps fateful importance.
[…]
One possible way – which may particularly appeal to those who 
consider the nuclear bombs primarily as a secret weapon devel-
oped to help win the present war – is to use it without warning  
on an appropriately selected object in Japan.
[…]
[But] it will be very difficult to persuade the world that a nation 
which was capable of  secretly preparing and suddenly releasing 
a weapon, as indiscriminate as the rocket bomb and a thousand 
times more destructive, is to be trusted in its proclaimed desire  
of  having such weapons abolished by international agreement.
 
The best possible atmosphere for the achievement of  an international 
agreement could be achieved if  America would be able to say to the 
world, “You see what weapon we had but did not use. We are ready to 
renounce its use in the future and to join other nations in working out 
adequate supervision of  the use of  this nuclear weapon.”

This may sound fantastic, but then in nuclear weapons we have 
something entirely new in the order of  magnitude of  destructive 
power, and if  we want to capitalize fully on the advantage which its 
possession gives us, we must use new and imaginative methods.”

FRANCK REPORT, METALLURGICAL LABORATORY, 11 JUNE 1945

SZILÁRD TO FRÉDÉRIC JOLIOT-CURIE, 12 APRIL 1940
“Many things have considerably changed since March 
last year, and therefore I should like to raise once more 
the question whether or not results concerning chain 
reactions in uranium ought to be published. It is reported 
that such publications are prevented in Germany and 
that work on uranium there is carried out in secrecy.”

START OF WORLD WAR II
On 1 September 1939 Germany invaded 
Poland. Britain and France declared war 
on Germany two days later.

FIRST LIGHTNING AKA JOE 1
On 29 August 1949 the first Soviet atomic test was 
successfully executed on a steppe in the Kazakh Soviet 
Socialist Republic. The Soviets gave it the code name 
“First Lightning”, but the Americans referred to it as 
“Joe 1”, a reference to Joseph Stalin. The design and 
power of  the device were similar to those of  “Fat Man”, 
the bomb detonated over Nagasaki.

URANIUMCLUB
In April 1939, the German physicist Wilhelm Hanle  
held a public lecture on the peaceful applications of  
nuclear fission. Shortly after the lecture, Hanle and  
his colleague Georg Joos notified the Reich Ministry  
of  Education of  the civilian as well as the military 
possibilities of  fission. The ministry reacted quickly:   
Abraham Esau of  the newly created Reich Research 
Councel invited a group of  physicists to discuss these 
subjects on 29 April. Among the attendants were Hanle 
and Joos, Walther Borthe, Robert Döpel, Hans Geiger,  
Wolfgang Gentner, and Gerhard Hoffman. The ‘Uranium 
club’ set itself  three goals: the building of  a nuclear 
reactor, the consolidation of  all sources of  uranium in 
Nazi Germany, and uniting the leading German nuclear 
physicists in one research group.

JORDAN’S STATISTICS
Jordan discovered Fermi-Dirac statistics (which he  
called “Pauli statistics”) in 1925, at the same time or 
even before Fermi and Dirac did. While the latter two 
won a Nobel Prize for their discovery, Born lost and 
forgot about Jordan’s paper. If  Born had submitted the 
paper for publication, Jordan probably would have won 
the prize.

JORDAN AND THE NAZIS
Jordan, himself  a rabid Hitler enthusiast, was upset over 
the Nazis’ treatment of  Born and Franck. He told Born that 
being a member of  the Nazi Party might allow him to inter-
vene on behalf  of  them and other Jewish colleagues. He 
found that his influence in these matters was severely limited, 
however, precisely because of  his association with Jews, 
which earned him the label “politically unreliable”. For this 
reason, his attempts to garner interest for advanced weaponry 
were ignored by the Nazis as well, even after he had joined 
the Luftwaffe in 1939.

THE MOTHERS
When Heisenberg’s situation began to look bleak, his pupil 
Weizsäcker had his father, an important diplomat, tell the 
authorities that Heisenberg was indispensible to the nation. 
Moreover, Heisenberg asked his mother to contact the mother 
of  Heinrich Himmler, whom she had known faintly for years. 
Mrs. Himmler reportedly said: “My heavens, if  my Heinrich 
only knew of  this, then he would immediately do something 
about it. There are some slightly unpleasant people around 
Heinrich, but this is of  course quite disgusting. But I will tell 
my Heinrich about it.” When Mrs. Heisenberg was about to 
leave, Mrs. Himmler asked her uncertainly if  she believed that 
her son Heinrich was perhaps not on the right path of  life? 
Heisenberg later reproduced her answer from her story: “Oh, 
you know, Mrs. Himmler, we mothers know nothing about 
politics – neither your son’s nor mine. But we know that we 
have to care for our boys. That is why I have come to you.” 
And this was something they both could understand.

MEITNER’S REFUSAL TO WORK ON THE PROJECT
Meitner refused to work on the Manhattan Project and 
declared, “I will have nothing to do with a bomb!”

GROVES’ MEMORANDUM, 5 MAY 1943
“[The bomb’s] best point of  use would be on a 
Japanese fleet concentration in the Harbor of  Truk. 
General Styer suggested Tokio but it was pointed 
out that the bomb should be used where, if  it failed 
to go off, it would land in water of  sufficient depth 
to prevent easy salvage. The Japanese were selected 
as they would not be so apt to secure knowledge 
from it as would the Germans.”

HEISENBERG’S REACTOR 
Bohr showed Heisenberg’s sketch to the Los Alamos scientists in 
December 1943. Bethe: “[S]everal of  us, including Oppenheimer, 
Teller, and myself, puzzled over its meaning. As far as we could 
see, the drawing represented a nuclear power reactor with 
control rods. But we had the preconceived notion that it was 
supposed to represent an atom bomb. So we wondered: Are 
the Germans crazy? Do they want to drop a nuclear reactor on 
London?” Goudsmit explained: “At that time we thought this 
meant simply that they had succeeded in keeping their real aims 
secret, even from a scientist as wise as Bohr.”

A STATUE FOR HITLER
With the prospect of  the defeat of  Nazi Germany,  
Einstein wrote a letter to his friend the physician Dr. 
Gabriel Segall in March 1945:
“So we have after all lived to witness the breakdown of   
the terrible evil over there. Perhaps all those horrible  
happenings will lead to something good in the long run:
it might not be altogether illogical to place a statue of  the 
contemptible Hitler in the vestibule of  the future palace 
of  world government since he, ironically, has greatly 
helped to convince many people of  the necessity of  a 
supranational organization.”

GROVES’ ENTHUSIASM FOR USING THE BOMB
General Groves’ opinion on the use of  the bomb differed from 
that of  the scientists: “The first serious mention of  the possi-
bility that the atomic bomb might not be used came after V-E 
Day, when Under Secretary of  War Patterson asked me whether 
the surrender in Europe might not alter our plans for dropping 
the bomb on Japan. I said that I could see NO reason why the 
decision taken by President Roosevelt when he approved the 
tremendous effort involved in the Manhattan Project should be 
changed for that reason, since the surrender of  Germany had 
in no way lessened Japan’s activities against the United States. 
A little later some of  the scientists began to express doubts 
about the desirability of  using the bomb against Japan. A 
number of  these men had come to the United States to escape 
racial persecution under the Hitler regime. To them, Hitler was 
the supreme enemy and, once he had been destroyed, they 
apparently found themselves unable to generate the same 
degree of  enthusiasm for destroying Japan’s military power.”

DON’T YOU THINK GOD KNOWS THE FACTS?
In 1943, Szilárd told Bethe: “I am going to write down all 
that is going on these days in the [Manhattan] project. 
I am just going to write down the facts – not for anyone 
to read, just for God.” “Don’t you think God knows the 
facts?” Bethe asked. “Maybe he does”, Szilárd replied, 
“but not this version of  the facts”.

HITLER’S CHRISTMAS STRIKE
In December 1942, the scientists at the Metallurgical 
Laboratory heard that Hitler was going to risk his first air raid 
on the US on Christmas Day. It was said that the object of  the 
attack would be Chicago, a city with a population of  millions. 
It was feared that the Germans would drop radioactive dust 
in order to poison the city’s air and water. In his book Alsos, 
Goudsmit noted that these rumours were believed to be true 
to such an extent that some physicists sent their families to 
the country, and military posts distributed Geiger counters 
to detect radioactivity if  and when the Germans attacked. 
Goudsmit: “It was then and there that our atom bomb project 
became a ‘race’ with Germany.”
                                                                                                                                                      

PROJECT Y
The aim of  Project Y was the design and construction 
of  an atomic bomb. In October 1942, Groves appointed 
J.Robert Oppenheimer as director. Oppenheimer was 
a brilliant Jewish physicist from New York, who had 
studied at the University of  Cambridge and at the  
University of  Göttingen. Rabi considered his appoint-
ment “a real stroke of  genius on the part of  General 
Groves, who was not generally considered to be a genius”. 
Oppenheimer managed to persuade top scientific  
talent to come live and work at the project’s remote  
site in Los Alamos, New Mexico. His team included 
many (future) Nobel laureates, including Bethe, Bohr,  
Chadwick, Fermi, Feynman, Rabi, and Segrè. Their first 
major goal was to create an explosive nuclear device to 
test the possibility of  an atomic bomb.

STIMSON’S DIARY, 15 MARCH 1945
“I went over with [President Roosevelt] the two schools of  thought 
that exist in respect to the future control after the war of  this 
project, in case it is successful, one of  them being the secret 
close-in attempted control of  the project by those who control 
it now, and the other being international control based upon 
freedom of  science. I told him that those things must be settled 
before the projectile is used and that he must be ready with a 
statement to come out to the people on it just as soon as that is 
done. He agreed to that.”

OPPENHEIMER ON ROOSEVELT’S DEATH, ADDRESS TO THE 
LOS ALAMOS STAFF
“When, three days ago, the world had word of  the death of  President 
Roosevelt, many wept who are unaccustomed to tears, many men 
and women, little enough accustomed to prayer, prayed to God. 
Many of  us looked with deep trouble to the future; many of  us felt 
less certain that our works would be to a good end; all of  us were 
reminded of  how precious a thing human greatness is. We have 
been living through years of  great evil, and of  great terror. Roosevelt 
has been our President, our Commander-in-Chief  and, in an old and 
unperverted sense, our leader. All over the world men have looked to 
him for guidance, and have seen symbolized in him their hope that 
the evils of  this time would not be repeated; that the terrible sac-
rifices which have been made, and those that are still to be made, 
would lead to a world more fit for human habitation. In the Hindu 
scripture, in the Bhagavad-Gita, it says, ‘Man is a creature whose 
substance is faith. What his faith is, he is.’ The faith of  Roosevelt is 
one that is shared by millions of  men and women in every country 
of  the world. For this reason it is possible to maintain the hope, 
for this reason it is right that we should dedicate ourselves to the 
hope, that his good works will not have ended with his death.”
 

HEISENBERG ON SPEER’S DECISIONS
On 4 June 1942, Heisenberg briefed Albert Speer, who had suc-
ceeded Todt as Minister of  Armaments and War, on the possibili-
ties of  atomic power. The physicist spoke mostly of  nuclear power 
plants, but Speer wanted to know about atomic bombs. Heisenberg 
recalled that at that point: “Definite proof  had been obtained that 
the technical utilization of  atomic energy in a uranium pile was 
possible. Moreover, it was to be expected on theoretical grounds 
that an explosive for atomic bombs could be produced in such a 
pile. Investigations of  the technical sides of  the atomic bomb prob-
lem… were however, not undertaken.” 

Following this meeting, Speer decided that work was to go forward 
as before on a comparatively small scale. Thus the only goal attain-
able was the development of  a nuclear power plant – in fact future 
work was directed entirely towards this one aim.

SPLITTING THE URANPROJEKT 
In 1942 it became clear that the Uranprojekt would not lead to the 
development of  nuclear weapons during the war. The Reich Ministry 
of  War relinquished its control of  the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for 
Physics and the Uranprojekt. The Reich Ministry of  Education, 
which now oversaw the Uranprojekt, split it into parallel research 
projects on various locations. Heisenberg was recognized as Nazi 
Germany’s principle nuclear scientist and became the acting director 
of  the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Physics. There, he worked with 
Weizsäcker and Wirtz on the development of  a nuclear power plant. 
When Allied bombing threatened their work in Berlin and in Leipzig, 
they relocated their research to Hechingen and other rural sites.

HITLER ON DESTROYING THE PLANET
Speer spoke with Hitler about the nuclear research programme on 23 June 1942. 
The minister had decided to keep his report brief, as he was familiar with Hitler’s 
tendency to push fantastic projects by making senseless demands. But Hitler, 
who had a tendency to pick the brains of  amateurs and gossips, had already 
received a garbled account of  the nuclear prospects from his photographer, 
Heinrich Hoffmann, and was therefore sceptical. Speer told Hitler that Heisen-
berg was unable to confirm that a chain reaction could be controlled with abso-
lute certainty. Some German scientists suspected that a nuclear chain reaction 
would indeed become uncontrollable and would consume the entire planet. 
According to Speer, Hitler was “plainly not delighted with the possibility that the 
Earth under his rule might be transformed into a glowing star” and joked that 
scientists “in their unworldly urge to lay bare all the secrets under heaven might 
someday set the globe on fire”. But undoubtedly a good deal of  time would pass 
before that came about, Hitler said; he would certainly not live to see it.

SZILÁRD CEASED WORRYING ABOUT THE GERMANS
Szilárd: “During 1943 and part of  1944 our greatest 
worry was the invasion of  Europe. … In 1945, when we 
ceased worrying about what the Germans might do to 
us, we began to worry about what the Government of  
the United States might do to other countries.”

SZILÁRD’S FAILURE TO REACH ROOSEVELT
Szilárd approached Einstein in the spring of  1945 and 
had him sign a letter that, together with a memorandum 
by Szilárd, was to warn President Roosevelt of  the pos-
sibility of  an atomic arms race. After reading Einstein’s 
letter (not the memorandum, because it was secret even 
to her). Due to the president’s illness, Mrs. Roosevelt was 
the first to read the letter. Mrs. Roosevelt then arranged 
a meeting between Szilárd and the president on 8 May 
1945. The memorandum was lying on the resident’s desk 
when he died.

SUBDUE THE RUSSKIES
Józef  Rotblat, a Polish-born British physicist, worked 
on the Manhattan Project on the presumption that a 
nuclear bomb would prevent the Nazis from winning  
the war and deter them from using a nuclear bomb 
themselves. He recalls that in March 1944, he over-
heard Groves saying: “You realize of  course that all this 
effort is really intended to subdue the Russkies.” When 
it also became clear to Rotblat that Nazi Germany was 
losing the war and had abandoned the Uranprojekt, he 
asked for permission to leave the Manhattan Project.

CIVILISATION MIGHT BE COMPLETELY DESTROYED
On 25 April 1945 Secretary of  War Henry Stimson and 
Brigadier General Leslie Groves gave President Truman a 
lengthy briefing during which Stimson warned that “modern 
civilization might be completely destroyed” by atomic bombs. 
Stimson also stressed that the future of  mankind would be 
shaped by how such bombs were used and subsequently 
controlled or shared.

SEGRÈ’S IMPRESSION OF TRINITY
“The most striking impression was that of  an over-
whelmingly bright light. … I was flabbergasted by the 
new spectacle. We saw the whole sky flash with unbe-
lievable brightness in spite of  the very dark glasses 
we wore. … I believe that for a moment the explosion 
might set fire to the atmosphere and thus finish the 
earth, even though I knew that this was not possible.”      

KIDNAPPING HEISENBERG
Houterman’s warning and Heisenberg’s appointment 
as acting director of  the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute made 
some scientists in the US fear that Nazi Germany was 
rapidly developing an atomic bomb. On 29 October 
1942, after deliberating with Bethe, Weisskopf  sent 
Oppenheimer a letter: “I think that something should 
be done immediately. I believe that by far the best 
thing to do in this situation would be to organize a 
kidnapping of  Heisenberg in Switzerland.”
 

THE BOMB MUST BE USED
Conant wrote to Stimson that “the bomb must be used” 
because that remained “the only way to awaken the 
world to the necessity of  abolishing war altogether. 
No technical demonstration … could take the place of  
the actual use with its horrible results…”

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE INTERIM COMMITTEE
Following Stimson’s advice, Truman set up the Interim 
Committee in May 1945 to advise him on decisions 
pertaining to the atomic bomb. The committee was 
composed mostly of  politicians and was reinforced 
by a Scientific Panel. The Panel members were 
Fermi, Oppenheimer, Arthur H. Compton, and Ernest 
O. Lawrence. According to Compton, the eventual use 
of  the bomb seemed “a foregone conclusion”. 

BRITAIN WANTS AN ATOMIC BOMB
In July 1941, the MAUD Committee advised the US to 
develop an atomic bomb as quickly as possible, for the 
committee considered it “likely to lead to decisive results 
in the war”. It continued to pressure the US to commit 
to the development of  a nuclear weapon, as Britain could 
spend only a small amount of  resources and manpower 
on its own nuclear project (code-named Tube Alloys) while 
fighting the war against Nazi Germany.
 

FINI JAPS
Truman wrote in his diary on 17 July 1945:
“[Stalin] will be in the Jap War on August 15th. 
Fini Japs when that comes about. … I can deal 
with Stalin. He is honest – but smart as hell.”

TELLER TO SZILÁRD, 2 JULY 1945
Teller wrote to Szilárd that in his opinion there was no hope 
of  clearing his conscience [referring to the petition to the 
president that Szilárd was spreading in July 1945]. “The 
things we are working on are so terrible that no amount of  
protesting or fiddling with politics will save our souls. 
… Our only hope is in getting the facts of  our results before 
the people. This might help to convince everybody that the 
next would be fatal. For this purpose actual combat-use 
might even be the best thing. … I feel that I should do the 
wrong thing if  I tried to say how to tie the little toe of  the 
ghost to the bottle from which we just helped it to escape.”

THE RUSSIANS WILL UNDERSTAND IT ONLY TOO WELL
In May 1945, Szilárd voiced his concerns about using the bomb 
against Japan to Oppenheimer. According to Szilárd, Oppenheimer 
responded: “The atomic bomb is shit. … [T]his is a weapon which 
has no military significance. It will make a big bang – a very big 
bang – but it is not a weapon which is useful in war.” He also said: 
“Don’t you think that if  we tell the Russians what we intend to do 
and then use the bomb in Japan, the Russians will understand it?” 
“They’ll understand it only too well”, Szilárd replied.

A FIRECRACKER OVER A DESERT
During his security hearing in April 1954, Oppenheimer 
told the committee: “We thought that the two overriding 
considerations were the saving of  lives in the war and 
the effect of  our actions on the stability, on our strength 
and the stability of  the post-war world. We did say that 
we did not think that exploding one of  these things as a 
firecracker over a desert was likely to be very impressive.”

THE TARGET WILL BE A PURELY MILITARY ONE 
On 25 July 1945, Truman wrote in his diary:
“We met at 11 A.M. today. That is Stalin, Churchill, and the U.S. 
President. But I had a most important session with Lord 
Mountbatten and General Marshall before that. We have discovered 
the most terrible bomb in the history of  the world.
[…]
This weapon is to be used against Japan between now and Au-
gust 10th. I have told the Sec. of  War, Mr. Stimson to use it so 
that military objectives and soldiers and sailors are the target 
and not women and children. Even if  the Japs are savages, 
ruthless, merciless and fanatic, we as the leader of  the world 
for the common welfare cannot drop this terrible bomb on the 
old Capitol or the new.
[...]
He and I are in accord. The target will be a purely military one 
and we will issue a warning statement asking the Japs to sur-
render and save lives. I’m sure they will not do that, but we will 
have given them the chance. It is certainly a good thing for the 
world that Hitler’s crowd or Stalin’s did not discover this atomic 
bomb. It seems to be the most terrible thing ever discovered, 
but it can be made the most useful.”

MORE PEP AND A LITTLE MORE DRAMATIC
From Stimson’s diary, 30 July 1945:
“After a short rest I took up with Bundy, Harrison, Page, and 
Groves the draft of  the Presidential announcement of  [the 
atomic attack on Japan]. We made some changes in it which 
were induced by the difference of  psychology which now exists 
since the successful test. 
I did not realize until I went over these papers now what a great 
change that had produced in my own psychology. We put some 
more pep into the paper and made it a little more dramatic and 
then sent a telegram to the President telling him what we had 
done and asking for his authority, and also sent him by special 
courier a draft of  the revised paper. There was a great deal more 
that I had to learn as to the plans because of  changes which 
had been crystallized while I was away.”

DEUTSCHE PHYSIK AND DE-NAZIFICATION
At the end of  the war, Stark was put on trial as a Nazi, with 
Von Laue, Sommersfeld, and Heisenberg testifying against 
him. He was found guilty as a “major offender” (Hauptschuld-
iger) and sentenced to four years’ hard labour. In an appeal he 
managed to get the classificaction reduced and the sentence 
suspended, but he regarded the affair as his opponents’ final 
act of  revenge.

Lenard was exempted after an appeal by a university rector 
who pointed out that the physicist was in his eighties and that 
they would find no honour in humiliating the aged physicist. 

HARTECK WARNS THE REICH MINISTRY OF 
ARMAMENTS AND WAR
In early May 1939, Paul Harteck, who was an advisor to the 
Army Ordnance Office, wrote a warning letter to a research 
department of  the Reich Ministry of  Armaments and War: 
“We take the liberty of  calling to your attention the newest 
developments in nuclear physics, which, in our opinion will 
probably make it possible to produce an explosive many 
orders of  magnitude more powerful than the conventional 
ones. … That country which first makes use of  it has an 
unsurpassable advantage over the others.”

A MODEST ENDEAVOUR
The Uranprojekt remained relatively small: at its peak 
about seventy scientists, of  which only about forty  
devoted more than half  their time to research on nuclear 
fission, were involved. Because of  an erroneous assertion 
made in 1941, the scientists relied on rare heavy water 
rather than on readily available graphite for their reactors. 
Moreover, the project, while formally centralized, was 
spread over several institutions and stymied by conflicting 
personal agendas, with Heisenberg and Diebner competing 
for scarce resources.

HITLER’S DEATH
On 30 April 1945, Hitler committed 
suicide in his Führerbunker in Berlin.

QUEBEC AGREEMENT
On 19 August 1943 Roosevelt and Churchill signed the Quebec 
Agreement. This document outlined how the US and Britain 
would collaborate in their effort to exploit nuclear energy and 
develop atomic weapons, and specifically, “to bring the Tube 
Alloys project [the British nuclear project] to fruition at the 
earliest moment”. The US and Britain agreed on the following:

“First, that we will never use this agency against each other.
Secondly, that we will not use it against third parties without 
each other’s consent.
Thirdly, that we will not either of  us communicate any infor- 
mation about Tube Alloys to third parties except by mutual 
consent.
Fourthly, that … the British Government recognize that any 
post-war advantages of  an industrial or commercial character 
shall be dealt with as between the United States and Great 
Britain on terms to be specified by the President of  the United 
States to the Prime Minister of  Great Britain”.

After the signing, the United Kingdom handed over all of  its 
material to the United States and, in return, received all 
American progress reports. Tube Alloys was subsumed under 
the Manhattan Project, and a large team of  British and Canadian 
scientists moved to the US.

THE ITALIAN CHARTER OF RACE
In July 1938, Mussolini signed the Charter of  Race, 
thereby stripping Italian Jews from their right to  
Italian citizenship. Jews were also cast out of  the Italian 
Fascist Party and could no longer join the army, hold a 
teaching position, have a state job, work for a bank or 
an insurance company, or marry a non-Jewish Italian.

ABOUT THE FRANCK REPORT
After learning of  the advice of  the Interim Committee, a group 
of  seven distinguished scientists in Chicago published the so-
called Franck Report. The report was named for physicist James 
Franck and was signed by Donald J. Hughes, J. J. Nickson, 
Eugene Rabinowitch, Glenn T. Seaborg, J. C. Stearns, and Leo 
Szilárd. They stressed the long-term political ramifications 
of  the use of  an atomic weapon and proposed to only demon-
strate itbefore important representatives. The report reached 
the Secretary of  War on 11 June 1945. 

SZILÁRD’S CLASSIFIED PETITION
After the Trinity test, a group of  scientists put forward this petition 
drafted by Szilárd. In order to prevent its circulation, Groves had the 
petition officially declared “classified”. Szilárd made an unsuccess-
ful attempt to declassify the document in order to make its contents 
public. In fact, Groves had the petition reclassified “secret” and then 
decreed: “Unfortunately we cannot spare any troops for the protec-
tion of  the document. Until we can do so it must be kept locked up.” 
The petition was not declassified till September 1958.

RICHARD FEYNMAN DIDN’T THINK
“The original reason to start the project – which I had – was that 
the Germans were a danger… With any project like that, you try 
to have success, having decided to do it. But what I did immor-
ally, I would say, was not to remember to reason that I said I was 
doing it … when the reason changed. When Germany was de-
feated, not the singlest thought came to my mind … that I had to 
reconsider why I am continuing to do this. I simply didn’t think.”

ONLY A WARNING OF THINGS TO COME
Truman said in his radio report to the American people on 
9 August 1945:“The world will note that the first atomic 
bomb was dropped on Hiroshima, a military base. That was 
because we wished in this first attack to avoid, insofar as pos-
sible, the killing of  civilians. But that attack is only a warning 
of  things to come. If  Japan does not surrender, bombs will 
have to be dropped on her war industries and, unfortunately, 
thousands of  civilian lives will be lost. I urge Japanese civil-
ians to leave industrial cities immediately, and save them-
selves from destruction.
I realize the tragic significance of  the atomic bomb.
[…]
It is an awful responsibility which has come to us.
 
We thank God that it has come to us, instead of  to our 
enemies; and we pray that He may guide us to use it in His 
ways and for His purposes.”

HOW OUR WORK WOULD AFFECT SOCIETY 
Robert R. Wilson, a young physicist working on the Manhattan Project, 
commented: “Bohr was the one person who was consistently concerned 
with postwar problems. The rest of  us [at Los Alamos] seemed just too 
busy, I regret to say, doing what had to be done to usher the atomic age. 
As we later learned, the situation at the ‘Met Lab’ in Chicago was quite 
different – perhaps because their work was finished sooner. It was there 
that James Franck and Leo Szilárd became the principal initiators of  
discussions about how our work would affect society.”
    

REPORT OF THE US STRATEGIC BOMBING SURVEY 
GROUP, REQUESTED BY TRUMAN, 1 JULY 1946
“The Survey has estimated that the damage and 
casualties caused at Hiroshima by the one atomic 
bomb dropped from a single plane would have required 
220 B-29s carrying 1,200 tons of  incendiary bombs, 
400 tons of  high-explosive bombs, and 500 tons of  
anti-personnel fragmentation bombs, if  conventional 
weapons, rather than an atomic bomb, had been used. 
One hundred and twenty-five B-29s carrying 1,200 tons 
of  bombs would have been required to approximate the 
damage and casualties at Nagasaki.
[…]
Based on a detailed investigation of  all the facts and 
supported by the testimony of  the surviving Japanese 
leaders involved, it is the Survey’s opinion that certainly 
prior to 31 December 1945 and in all probability prior 
to 1 November 1945, Japan would have surrendered 
even if  the atomic bombs had not been dropped, even if  
Russia had not entered the war, and even if  no invasion 
had been planned or contemplated.” 

SZILÁRD ON GOVERNMENTS, 15 AUGUST 1960 
“By and large, governments are guided by consider-
ations  
of  expediency rather than by moral considerations. 
[…] 
Prior to the war I had the illusion that up to a point 
the American Government was different. This illusion 
was gone after Hiroshima. Perhaps you remember that 
in 1939 President Roosevelt warned the belligerents 
against using bombs against the inhabited cities, and 
this I thought was perfectly fitting and natural. Then, 
during the war, without any explanation, we began to 
use incendiary bombs against the cities of  Japan. This 
was disturbing to me and it was disturbing [to] many 
of  my friends.
[…]
[T]his was the end of  the illusion. But, you see, there 
was still a difference between using incendiary bombs 
and using the new force of  nature for purposes of  
destruction. There was still a further step taken here – 
atomic energy was something new.”

JOHNNY VON NEUMANN’S CREDITS
Johnny von Neumanns retorted that “sometimes some-
one confesses a sin in order to take credit for it”.

GOOD IMPERIALISTS WOULD ATTACK TOMORROW 
In a discussion at Farm Hall, after hearing about the dropping 
of  Little Boy on Hiroshima, Von Weizsäcker commented: “Stalin 
certainly has not got [a nuclear bomb]. If  the Americans and 
the British were good imperialists they would attack Stalin with 
the thing tomorrow, but they won’t do that. They will use it as a 
political weapon. Of  course, that is good, but the result will be 
a peace that will last until the Russians have it, and then there 
is bound to be war.”

INCREASING NUMBER OF LIVES SAVED
Over the years, the projected number of  casualties 
in case the US had invaded Japan has increased 
considerably. In 1945, the US War Department 
estimated that an invasion would lead to 46,000 
American casualties. Two years later, Stimson 
claimed it would be over 1,000,000. In 1955, 
Truman insisted that General Marshall had projected 
a loss of  500,000 Americans. And in 1991, George 
W. Bush said Truman’s decision to drop the bombs 
“spared millions of  American lives”. In 1995, during 
a controversy surrounding a thought-provoking display 
of  the Enola Gay in the Smithsonian, a member of  
Bock’s Car, the plane that bombed Nagasaki, asserted 
that 6,000,000 lives were saved.

HISTORY WILL RECORD THAT THE AMERICANS AND THE 
ENGLISH MADE A BOMB
In response to Truman’s “Radio Report” later that day, the Farm 
Hall captives discussed the development of  the atomic bomb:
Heisenberg: “We wouldn’t have had the courage to recommend 
to the Government in the spring of  1942 that they should 
employ 120,000 men just for building the thing up.”
Von Weizsäcker: “I believe the reason we didn’t do it was be-
cause all the physicists didn’t want to do it, on principle. 
If  we had all wanted Germany to win the war we would have 
succeeded.”
Hahn: “I don’t believe that but I am thankful we didn’t succeed.”
Out of  earshot of  Weizsäcker, Bagge said: “I think it is absurd 
for Weizsäcker to say he did not want the thing to succeed.
That may be so in his case, but not for all of  us.”
Von Weizsäcker: “One can say it might have been a much greater 
tragedy for the world if  Germany had had the uranium bomb. 
Just imagine, if  we had destroyed London with uranium bombs 
it would not have ended the war, and when the war did end, it
is still doubtful whether it would have been a good thing.”
Heisenberg: “About a year ago, I heard from Segner from the 
Foreign Office that the Americans had threatened to drop a 
uranium bomb on Dresden if  we didn’t surrender soon. At 
that time, I was asked whether I thought it possible, and,
with complete conviction, I replied, ‘No’.”
Weizsäcker: “History will record that the Americans and the                      
English made a bomb, and that at the same time the Germans, 
under the Hitler regime, produced a workable engine. In other 
words, the peaceful development of  the uranium engine was 
made in Germany under the Hitler regime, whereas the Americans 
and the English developed a ghastly weapon of  war.” 
He later added that if  the Germans would have produced and 
dropped such as bomb, they would certainly have been executed 
for war crimes. 

WORTHY AND UNWORTHY PROCEEDINGS
Alfred MacCormack, Military Intelligence Director for the Pacific 
Theatre of  War, recollects that halfway through 1945, the US: 
“had such complete control of  the air over Japan that we knew 
when and from what port every ship would put to sea. The Japanese 
had no longer enough food in stock and their fuel reserves were 
practically exhausted. We had begun a secret process of  mining 
all their harbors, which was steadily isolating them from the rest 
of  the world. If  we had brought this operation to its logical conclu-
sion the destruction of  Japan’s cities with incendiary and other 
bombs would have been quite unnecessary. But General Norstad 
declared, at Washington, that this blockading action was a cowardly 
proceeding unworthy of  the Air Force. It was therefore discontinued.”

ETHICAL STANDARD COMMON TO THE BARBARIANS 
OF THE DARK AGES 
Admiral William D. Leahy wrote in his book of  memoirs 
titled I Was There: “Once it had been tested, President 
Truman faced the decision as to whether to use it. He 
did not like the idea, but he was persuaded that it would 
shorten the war against Japan and save American lives. 
It is my opinion that the use of  this barbarous weapon 
at Hiroshima and Nagasaki was of  no material assistance 
in our war against Japan. The Japanese were already 
defeated and ready to surrender because of  the effective 
sea blockade and the successful bombing with conven-
tional weapons. ... My own feeling was that in being the 
first to use it, we had adopted an ethical standard common 
to the barbarians of  the Dark Ages. I was not taught to 
make wars in that fashion, and that wars cannot be won 
by destroying women and children. 

   
WHAT THEY WANTED ALL THE TIME
In 1949, Leahy told a reporter that although Truman told 
him they would “only... hit military objectives..., they 
went ahead and killed as many women and children as 
they could which was just what they wanted all the time”.

TRUMAN’S “YES”
Groves: “As far as I was concerned, [Truman’s] decision 
was one of  non-interference-basically, a decision not 
to upset the existing plans... As time went on, and as 
we poured more and more money and effort into the 
project, the government became increasingly committed 
to the ultimate use of  the bomb...”
 On another occasion, Groves commented, “Truman 
did not so much say ‘yes’ as not say ‘no.’ It would 
indeed have taken a lot of  nerve to say ‘no’ at that time.”

BAGGE’S DIARY, 7 AUGUST 1945
“Poor Professor Hahn! He told us when he first learned of  the terrible 
consequences which atomic fission could have, he had been unable to 
sleep for several nights and contemplated suicide. At one time there 
was even an idea of  disposing of  all uranium in the sea, in order to 
prevent this catastrophe. … At 2 AM there was a knock on our door 
and in came von Laue. ‘We have to do something, I am very worried 
about Otto Hahn. This news has upset him dreadfully, and I fear the 
worst’. We stayed up for quite a while and only when we had made 
sure that Hahn had fallen asleep, did we go to bed.”

HEISENBERG SHOULD BE FORCED TO SEE THESE CAMPS
On 27 June 1945, Meitner wrote in an undelivered letter to Hahn:
“You all worked for Nazi Germany. And you tried to offer only a pas-
sive resistance. Certainly, to buy off  your conscience you helped 
here and there a persecuted person, but millions of  innocent human 
beings were allowed to be murdered without any kind of  protest 
being uttered. 
[...]
 I and many others believe that a way for you would be to publish an 
open declaration that you are conscious that through your passivity 
you have incurred a joint responsibility for what happened. 
[…]
But many believe that it is too late for that. They say that you first 
betrayed your friends, then your children in that you let them stake 
their lives on a criminal war – and finally that you betrayed Germany 
itself, because when the war was already quite hopeless, you did not 
once arm yourselves against the senseless destruction of  Germany.
[…] 
A man like Heisenberg and many millions with him should be forced 
to see these camps and the martyred people. His appearance in 
Denmark in 1941 is unforgivable.”

A THEORY OF THE SUPERIOR NATURES
On 26 June 1945, Meitner wrote in a letter to Paul 
Scherrer: “I have heard remarkable things about 
[Heisenberg] from young Danish colleagues concerning 
his 1941 visit with Carl-Friedrich [von Weizsäcker] to  
Copenhagen to stage a thoroughly unwelcome German 
physics congress. He was quite possessed by wishful 
thinking of  a German victory and he developed a theory 
of  the superior natures and of  the interior peoples over 
whom Germany should rule.”

THE (IN)DECENCY OF GOVERNMENTS
Ten years after the war, a German scientist said: “We were really 
no better, morally or intellectually, than our foreign colleagues. 
But by the time the war began we had already learnt from bitter 
experience of  nearly seven years under Hitler that one had to 
treat the State and its executive organizations with suspicion 
and reserve. The citizens of  totalitarian countries are rarely good 
patriots. But our colleagues elsewhere had at that time complete 
confidence in the decency and sense of  justice of  their Govern-
ments. I doubt, incidentally, whether exactly the same situation 
prevails in those countries today.” 

SAINT PETER’S JUDGEMENT
During a small dinner, Churchill turned to Truman 
and said: “Mister President, I hope you have your 
answer ready for that moment when you and I stand 
before Saint Peter and he says, ‘I understand that 
you two are responsible for putting off  those atomic 
bombs. What have you got to say for yourselves?’”

CHURCHILL WRITING HISTORY
“History will be kind to me”, Churchill said 
at several occasions, “for I intend to write it”.

NOT WORTH A SINGLE SPRAINED ANKLE
Mid-1944, Alsos teams discovered scientific papers from Von 
Weizsäcker and interviewed several German nuclear scientists. 
It became clear that Nazi Germany was at least two years 
behind the US in the development of  the atomic bomb. When 
Goudsmit’s commander, Colonel Pash, told him that he 
considered dropping parachutists at the sites of  the Uranprojekt 
to make sure there were no nuclear weapons, Goudsmit told 
him: “There is so little danger in what is going on at Hechingen 
and Haigerloch that I consider the German project not worth 
even the sprained ankle of  a single Allied soldier.” Later, 
Goudsmit would comment: “I’m afraid Colonel Pash has not 
forgiven me to this day for having spoiled this interesting plan. 
It was to have been the crowning achievement of  his career.”
     

FARM HALL 
From 3 June 1945 to 3 January 1946, ten leading German 
scientists were detained at Farm Hall, a British country 
house near Cambridge. They were Erich Bagge, Kurt 
Diebner, Walther Gerlach, Otto Hahn, Paul Harteck, 
Werner Heisenberg, Horst Korsching, Max von Laue, 
Carl Friedrich von Weizsäcker, and Karl Wirtz. Except for
Von Laue, all of  them had been involved in the Uranprojekt. 
The allies recorded the conversations among the scientists 
in order to determine their mindsets and the Nazis’ progress 
towards an atomic weapon.
       

STALIN’S ATOMGRADS
From 1944 the Soviet atomic bomb programme made 
much progress, due in large part to espionage efforts 
and the assimilation of  German scientists. After the 
nuclear attacks on Hiroshima and Nagasaki, Stalin 
greatly expanded the project. By 1957 it encompassed 
at least ten secret cities also known as “Atomgrads”.

JAPAN CONSIDERS UNCONDITIONAL SURRENDER
On 13 July 1945 the Japanese ambassador Sato in Moscow sent 
the following cable to Foreign Minister Togo in Tokyo: “See Molotov 
before his departure for Potsdam. Convey His Majesty’s strong 
desire to secure a termination of  the war. … Unconditional 
surrender is the only obstacle to peace.” Sato replied: “There is 
no chance whatsoever of  winning the Soviet Union to our side and 
of  obtaining her support on the basis set forth in your cables.… 
Japan is defeated. … We must face the fact and act accordingly …” 
These cables were intercepted and decoded by the US.

THE MOLOTOV–RIBBENTROP PACT
On 23 August 1939 the foreign ministers of  Nazi Germany 
and the Soviet Union signed a non-aggression pact. The 
pact assured that the Soviet Union would stay out of  a  
European war, and that Germany and Japan would not form 
a military alliance. 

A SPAWN OF JEWISH PSEUDO-SCIENCE
In his conversations with Hitler, it became very clear to Speer 
that the Führer dismissed the bomb: “[Hitler] was unable  
to grasp the revolutionary nature of  nuclear physics” and  
called the atomic bomb “a spawn of  Jewish pseudo-science”. 
Of  2,200 points raised in Speer’s conferences with Hitler, 
nuclear fission was raised only once and then only briefly.

GERMANY AND ITALY DECLARE WAR ON THE US
On 11 December 1941 Germany and Italy declared war 
on the US, which immediately declared war in return. 

THE EASTERN FRONT
Disregarding the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact, Nazi  
Germany began a large-scale invasion of  the Soviet 
Union on 22 June 1941.

GROVES ON SOFTNESS
Groves: “I was present at all [Interim Committee] meetings 
and I always considered it my duty to recommend that the 
bomb should be dropped. After all, great numbers of  our 
boys were dying every day at that time in the war against the 
Japanese. So far as I am aware, none of  the scientists who 
opposed the dropping of  the bomb had any near relatives in 
the field. So they could very well afford to be soft.”

SACHS TO ROOSEVELT, NOVEMBER 1944
“The first record of  anything like a detailed proposal for use of  
the bombs came from Alexander Sachs, who had been instrumen-
tal in convincing Roosevelt to approve the atom project in the first 
place. In May 1944, Sachs first mentioned the need for target 
planning; in November 1944, he handed the president a memo,
Following a successful test, there should be arranged 
—  a rehearsal demonstration before a body including internation-

ally recognized scientists from all Allied countries and, in 
 addition, neutral countries, supplemented by representatives 

of  the major (religious) faiths; 
—  that a report on the nature and the portent of  the atomic be 

prepared by the scientists and other representative figures; 
—  that thereafter a warning be issued by the United States 
 and its allies in the Project to our major enemies in the war, 

Germany and Japan, that atomic bombing would be applied 
 to a selected area within a designated time limit for the evacu-

ation of  human and animal life; and finally 
—  in the wake of  such realization of  the efficacy of  atomic bomb-

ing an ultimatum demand for immediate surrender by the 
enemies be issued, in the certainty that failure to comply would 
subject their countries and people to atomic annihilation.”

COVERING UP RADIOACTIVITY
Before its actual use in Japan, physicists entreated Groves to allow 
pamphlets to be dropped along with the bomb, explaining the unfamiliar 
dangers of  radioactivity arising from the nuclear explosion. The request 
was denied because the military feared such warnings could be
interpreted as a confession that they were employing a weapon similar 
to poison gas. After the bombing of  Hiroshima, the military authorities 
tried to divert attention away from the radioactive effects. They explained 
that there was no dangerous radioactivity in the ruins of  Hiroshima; 
the number of  victims who had been exposed to a fatal dose of  radiation 
or one likely to cause chronic illness was kept secret.  

BOMB IS THE WRONG WORD
Admiral William D. Leahy, Truman’s chief  of  staff, was opposed to 
using the bomb, placing it in the same category as poison gas: 
“‘Bomb’ is the wrong word to use for this weapon. It is not a bomb.  
It is not an explosive. It is a poisonous thing that kills people by its 
deadly radioactive reaction...”

 

A VERY PLEASANT WAY TO DIE                                      
General Groves sought confirmation from that the reports of  delayed 
deaths due to radiation were simply “a good dose of  propaganda”.  
“We are not bothered a bit”, he said of  the reports of  radiation sickness, 
“excepting for – what they are trying to do is create sympathy  
[for the Japanese]”. Groves was particularly worried about Blakeslee’s 
AP story. “This”, he confided before reading aloud Blakeslee’s assertion 
that radiation effects were well known in American laboratories prior  
to Hiroshima, “is what hurts us”. Groves stated at a Congressional 
hearing that he had heard death from radiation was “very pleasant”.

OPERATION ALSOS
Operation Alsos was an allied mission with the aim of  col-
lecting intelligence regarding the German Uranprojekt. It was 
closely linked to the Manhattan Project. Its scientific and 
technical leader was Samuel A. Goudsmit, a Dutch physicist 
born in 1902 and a former student of  Heisenberg.

OF COURSE THE BOMB WOULD BE USED
Shortly after Goudsmit discovered Von Weizsäcker’s 
papers concerning the Uranprojekt, he went for a walk 
with a major attached to the Alsos group, who was  
also a liaison officer at the War Department. “Isn’t 
it wonderful, that the Germans have no atom bomb? 
Now we won’t have to use ours.” The major retorted, 
“Of  course you understand, Sam, that if  we have such 
a weapon we are going to use it.”

THE BRAINS OF A GERMAN URANIUM PROJECT 
Goudsmit: “To an outsider, a professor is a professor, but 
we knew that no one but Professor Heisenberg could be the 
brains of  a German uranium project and every physicist 
throughout the world knew that. 
[… ]
an outsider simply can’t acquire the necessary scientific 
knowledge for making an atom bomb overnight.”

WAR IN THE SERVICE OF SCIENCE
Houtermans told Goudsmit that “one worked slowly 
on the [Uranprojekt], not wanting it to succeed for this 
war” and that, in Heisenberg’s words, the physicists 
tried to “put the war in the service of  science”.

FLEROV’S WARNING TO STALIN
In April 1942, the Soviet nuclear physicist Georgy N. Flerov wrote 
a secret letter to Stalin. He pointed out that the American, British, 
and German scientists had published nothing on nuclear fission 
since its discovery in 1939 and concluded they were covertly con-
ducting research. Flerov, who had observed that a modest amount 
of  uranium could produce an enormous  explosion, warned Stalin 
that “the results [of  developing an atomic weapon] will be so over-
riding it won’t be necessary to determine who is to blame for the 
fact that this work has been neglected in our country”.

HEISENBERG’S HOME
In 1945, Heisenberg’s vacant home was found in the town 
of  Hechingen. Goudsmit: “The colonel and the general 
entered Heisenberg’s office. He was not there, but the first 
thing they saw was – much to the consternation of  the gen-
eral – a photo of  Heisenberg and myself  standing side by 
side. Egged on by colonel Pash, the general almost began 
to believe that I could not be trusted and that I had close 
contact with the enemy. I could have helped him out, I 
suppose, but that didn’t seem quite the moment to explain 
about the international ‘lodge’ of  physicists.” 

RUSSIAN ALSOS
In early 1945, the Russians initiated a project similar to  
Operation Alsos. On 3 May, one day after the fall of  Berlin, 
special search teams including nuclear physicists searched the 
Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Physics, the University of  Berlin, 
and the Technische Hochschule Berlin. However, most of  the 
Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Physics had moved to Hechingen, 
which would become part of  the French occupation zone. 

GOUDSMIT ON HEISENBERG
In his obituary for Heisenberg, Goudsmit wrote that Heisenberg’s 
scientific accomplishments were: “as revolutionary as those of  
Einstein and as profound as those of  Bohr, and that Heisenberg 
was a very great physicist, a deep thinker, a fine human being, 
and also a courageous person. In my opinion he must be consid-
ered to have been in some respects a victim of  the Nazi regime.” 
Goudsmit also stated, “Many of  us hoped that he would have 
been more outspoken in condemning the regime”.

DIEBNER ON THE FAILURE OF THE URANPROJEKT
Diebner gave the following explanation for the fact that 
Nazi Germany failed to produce a nuclear bomb: “It 
was the elimination of  German heavy-water production 
in Norway [in early 1943] that was the main factor in 
our failure to achieve a self-sustaining atomic reaction 
before the war ended.”

JORDAN’S REQUEST
After the war, Jordan appealed to Max Born for a testimonial 
to present to the denazification tribunal, attaching an exculpa-
tory apologia for his conduct under Hitler. He boasted in the 
document that he had done all in his power to defend quantum 
physics from the attacks of  Lenard and Stark and congratulated 
himself  on not having worked on the atomic bomb or on rockets.  
Born simply sent by return of  post a list of  his friends and family 
members who had been killed under the Nazi regime.              
Heisenberg, on the other hand, was inclined to accept Jordan’s 
defence.

SZILÁRD’S REACTION AFTER HIROSHIMA
“Using atomic bombs against Japan is one of  the great-
est blunders of  history. Both from a practical point of  view 
on a 10-year scale and from the point of  view of  our moral 
position. I went out of  my way and very much so in order to 
prevent it but as today’s papers show without succes. It is 
difficult to see what wise course of  action is possible from 
here on.” 

BLACKETT ON BOMBING RUSSIA
“The second reason [why the US would use atomic 
weapons against Russia] is that American opinion, 
both military and civilian, in marked contrast with 
Russian, seems to have accepted the use of  mass 
destruction as a normal operation of  war.”

OPPENHEIMER ON HISTORY
“It is possible that in the large light of  history, if  indeed  
there is to be history, the atomic bomb will appear not 
very different than in the bright light of  the first atomic 
explosion. Partly because of  the mood of  the time, 
partly because of  a very clear prevision of  what the 
technical developments would be, we had the impression 
that this might mark, not merely the end of  a great and 
terrible war, but the end of  such wars for mankind.”
— Atomic Weapons and American Policy, 1953

EINSTEIN ON ETHICS
“In the first two years of  the atomic era another 
phenomenon is to be noted. The public, having been 
warned of  the horrible nature of  atomic warfare, 
has done nothing about it, and to a large extent has 
dismissed the warning from its consciousness.
[…]
It should not be forgotten that the atomic bomb was 
made in this country as a preventive measure; it was to 
head off  its use by the Germans, if  they discovered it. 
[…]
We have emerged from a war in which we had to accept 
the degradingly low ethical standards of  the enemy. 
But instead of  feeling liberated from his standards, 
and set free to restore the sanctity of  human life and 
the safety of  noncombatants, we are in effect making 
the low standards of  the enemy in the last war our own 
for the present.”
— Atomic War or Peace, 1947

OPPENHEIMER ON RESPONSIBILITY
“Nowhere is this troubled sense of  responsibility more 
acute, and surely nowhere has it been more prolix, than 
among those who participated in the development of  
atomic energy for military purposes. … It is not hard 
to understand why this should be so. The physics which 
played the decisive part in the development of  the atomic 
bomb came straight out of  war laboratories and our 
journals. 

Despite the vision and the far-seeing wisdom of  our war-
time heads of  state, the physicists felt a peculiarly inti-
mate responsibility for suggesting, for supporting, and 
in the end, in large measure, for achieving the realization of  
atomic weapons. Nor can we forget that these weapons, 
as they were in fact used, dramatized so mercilessly the 
inhumanity and evil of  modern war. In some sort of  crude 
sense which no vulgarity, no humor, no overstatement 
can quite extinguish, the physicists have known sin; and 
this is a knowledge which they cannot lose.
[…]
The true responsibility of  a scientist, as we all know, is 
to the integrity and vigor of  his science. And because 
most scientists, like all men of  learning, tend in part 
also to be teachers, they have a responsibility for the 
communication of  the truths they have found. This is  
at least a collective if  not an individual responsibility. 
That we should see in this any insurance that the fruits 
of  science will be used for man’s benefit, or denied to 
man when they make for his distress or destruction, 
would be a tragic naiveté.”
— Arthur D. Little Memorial Lecture, 1947

FRITZ HABER’S “HIGHER FORM OF KILLING”
Haber claimed that new technology in weapons could save 
lives since it could achieve swift victory; he had argued for an 
overwhelming attack with a much larger volume of  gas, rather 
than an “experiment”. He also said gas warfare, though in 
conflict with the Hague Convention, was “a higher form of  killing”, 
suggesting that to be injured by gas was better than being 
blown up by a conventional shell. Haber had also overseen 
the creation of  Zyklon A, and encouraged the development of  
hydrocyanic acid. In 1922 his assistants and collaborators at 
the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Chemistry invented Zyklon B.

EISENHOWER ON DROPPING THE BOMB
“Secretary of  War Stimson … informed me that our government was prepar-
ing to drop an atomic bomb on Japan. … During his recitation of  the rel-
evant facts, I had been conscious of  a feeling of  depression and so I voiced 
to him my grave misgivings, first on the basis of  my belief  that Japan was 
already defeated and that dropping the bomb was completely unnecessary, 
and secondly because I thought that our country should avoid shocking 
world opinion by the use of  a weapon whose employment was, I thought, 
no longer mandatory as a measure to save American lives. It was my belief  
that Japan was, at that very moment, seeking some way to surrender with a 
minimum loss of  ‘face’. The Secretary was deeply perturbed by my attitude.”

MACARTHUR ON DROPPING THE BOMB
An Army consult reported: “When I asked General 
MacArthur about the decision to drop the bomb, 
I was surprised to learn he had not even been consulted. 
What, I asked, would his advice have been? He replied 
that he saw no military justification for the dropping 
of  the bomb. The war might have ended weeks earlier, 
he said, if  the United States had agreed, as it later did 
anyway, to the retention of  the institution of  the emperor.”

JAPAN SURRENDERS 
On 15 August Emperor Hirohito gave a recorded 
radio address to the Empire. In the radio address, 
called the “Jewel Voice Broadcast”, he announced 
the surrender of  the Empire of  Japan to the Allies.

TWELVE PEOPLE
Heisenberg: “In the summer of  1939 twelve 
people might still have been able, by coming to 
mutual agreement, to prevent the construction 
of  atom-bombs.”

HOW WELL WE MEANT
In 1985, Weisskopf  wrote an article, “Looking back on 
Los Alamos”, for the Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists: 
“We were naive perhaps; we should have known better. 
True enough, because the bomb exists we have had no 
war between great powers for 40 years   an unusually 
long period. But the great powers have found only one 
way to sustain this state of  affairs – to deploy more 
and ‘better’ bombs, and more efficient means for their 
delivery… All this is the outcome of  our work, or our 
brainchild, of  our achievement: ‘How well we meant’. 
Can we celebrate our successes and remain silent 
about the consequences?”

UNDERESTIMATING THE GERMAN DANGER
On 7 March 1950, Eistein wrote to Senator J. E. Muray: “What you 
have said [that Germany should not be allowed to remilitarize 
because of  the historic and continuing German policy of  playing 
East against West] is the naked truth. I know the Germans well, 
and I know how right you are on every point. I simply cannot 
understand how the Western Powers, despite their terrible experi-
ences, can repeat the same mistakes and blunders that they made 
after the First World War. Responsible Western leaders seem once 
again to be blinded by their overestimation of  the Russian danger, 
while underestimating the German danger.
[…] 
If  a serious attempt were made, I see no reason why it should not 
be possible to reach an agreement with Soviet Russia; the Soviet 
Union has nothing to gain from an armed conflict and, no doubt, 
wants to maintain peace. The Germans, however, with their rigid 
mentality, know no alternative but to fish in muddy waters, taking 
skillful advantage of  the discord they have fostered between the 
United States and Soviet Russia.”

THE NUCLEAR ATTACKS ON HIROSHIMA AND 
NAGASAKI
The US dropped the uranium bomb “Little Boy” on  
Hiroshima on 6 August 1945. It killed between 90,000 
and 166,000 people within four months and injured  
at least 70,000.
The plutonium bomb “Fat Man” was dropped on 
Nagasaki on 9 August. It killed between 60,000 and 
80,000 people within four months.

ACCEPTANCE, AND EVEN APPROVAL
In his book Reflections of a British Participant (1985), 
Rudolf  Peierls wrote: “The raid on Hiroshima was no 
more and no less unethical than the raids on Tokyo or 
on Dresden. It is remarkable how attitudes to strategic 
air raids on cities changed in the course of  World War 
II. The attitude of  the outrage at the raids on Guernica 
and Rotterdam changed to acceptance, and even ap-
proval, of  large-scale raids on cities. Hiroshima would 
not have been attacked without the climate of  opinion 
that made the Tokyo and Dresden raids acceptable.”

OPPENHEIMER ON LOOKING BACK
“The history of  our policy and our efforts toward 
international atomic control is public; far more impor-
tant, it has from the first aroused widespread interest, 
criticism and understanding, and has been the subject 
of  debates in the Congress and the press, and among 
our people. There may even be some notion of  how, if  
we had the last years to live over again, we might alter 
our course in the light of  what we have learned, and 
some rough agreement as to the limits within which 
alternative courses of  action, if  adopted at a time  
when they were still open to us, could have altered the 
outcome. The past is in one respect a misleading guide 
to the future: It is far less perplexing.”
— The Open Mind, 1949

SUFFICIENTLY SPECTACULAR
The minutes of  the Manhattan Project’s target committee 
meeting included the specification that the military target 
should be located in a much larger area subject to blast 
damage to avoid undue risks of  the weapon being lost due 
to bad placing of  the bomb: Two aspects of  this are:
1. Obtaining the greatest psychological effect against Japan. 
2. Making the initial use sufficiently spectacular for the 
importance of  the weapon to be internationally recognized 
when publicity on it is released.

ERICH R. BAGGE
— PHYSICIST
1912 Neustadt bei Coburg, German Empire

WALTER GERLACH
— PHYSICIST 
1889 Biebrich, German Empire

OTTO HAHN
— CHEMIST
1879 Frankfurt am Main, 
German Empire

(ERNST) PASCUAL JORDAN
— PHYSICIST
1902 Hanover, German Empire

  

JÜDISCHE PHYSIK
The Deutsche Physik movement never clearly defined 
“Jüdische Physik”. However, its proponents almost  
equivocally rejected Einstein’s theory of  relativity, 
and most of  them rejected Bohr’s work on quantum 
mechanics – theories that formed the foundation of  
modern nuclear physics. Whereas the Deutsche Physik 
movement did not bring scientific advances of  any  
significance, their opponents were in the process of  
redefining reality and exploring the possibilities of  
nuclear power.
Several non-Jewish German scientists, including  
Heisenberg, Von Laue, and Von Weizsäcker, defended  
Jüdische Physik and were consequently harassed.  
Pascual Jordan, a convinced Nazi, also defended  
relativity and quantum mechanics against the attacks 
of  Lenard and Stark. Because of  his association with 
Jews, he was labelled “politically unreliable”, which 
severely limited his influence.

HILBERT ON THE CIVIL SERVICE LAW 
A year after the Civil Service Law came into effect, 
David Hilbert, a renowned Professor of  Mathematics 
at the University of  Göttingen, was seated next to 
Bernard Rust, the new Minister of  Science, Education, 
and Culture. Rust asked him: “Is it really true, profes-
sor, that your institute suffered so much from the 
departure of  the Jews and their friends?” Hilbert 
replied: “Suffered? No, it didn’t suffer, Herr Minister. 
It just doesn’t exist anymore.”

JOHANNES STARK
— PHYSICIST
1874 Schickenhof, German Empire

Stark maintained a friendly correspondence with 
Einstein in the 1900s, but during World War I his 
nationalism clashed with Einstein’s pacifism. Further-
more, he doubted the validity of  Bohr’s theory and 
voiced his objections in his acceptance speech for 
the 1919 Nobel Prize in Physics, which he won for 
his discovery of  the Doppler effect in canal rays, and 
the so-called Stark effect. A number of  professional 
disputes deepened Stark’s estrangement from the 
scientific community. Nazism offered him a way to 
dominate science through politics rather than aca-
demia; he joined the Party in 1930 in an effort to 
become, in his own words, the “Führer of  physics”.

HITLER COULD DO WITHOUT SCIENCE
In April 1933, Max Planck met Adolf  Hitler in an 
attempt to champion the cause of  Jewish scientists, 
especially Fritz Haber. In this conversation, Hitler 
proclaimed: “I have nothing at all against the Jews 
as such. But the Jews are all communists and these 
are my enemies.” Hitler refused to make distinctions 
between individual Jews, saying that “a Jew is a Jew; 
all Jews cling together like burrs”. After Planck attempt-
ed to pursue the subject further, Hitler became increas-
ingly animated until he was in a rage. In the mid-1930s, 
the story circulated that Hitler had been even more 
blunt in his conversation with Planck: “If  science cannot 
do without Jews, then we will have to do without science 
for a few years.” 

LENARD’S ALTERNATIVE RELATIVITY
Lenard tried to find Aryan alternatives for Einstein’s 
theory of  relativity and other crucial contributions 
by Jewish scientists. He attributed the discovery of  
E = MC2 to Friedrich Hasenöhrl, an Austro-Hungarian 
physicist who had used a similar, yet more complex 
equation to solve more s pecific problems. Lenard 
also developed a version of  the then already defunct 
aether theory to explain phenomena that other 
scientists understood better through Jüdische Physik.

MAX T. F. VON LAUE
— PHYSICIST
1879 Pfaffendorf, German Empire

LISE MEITNER
— PHYSICIST 
1878 Vienna, 
Austria-Hungary

KARL E. J. WIRTZ
— PHYSICIST
1910 Cologne, German Empire 

EINSTEIN ON POLITICS AFTER ROOSEVELT, 
31 OCTOBER 1949
“The concatenation is this: No peace without disarmament; 
no disarmament without confidence; no confidence without 
mutual and effective economic relations.
I cannot help feeling that since the death of  President  
Roosevelt our foreign policy has proceeded in the wrong 
direction, and there seems to be little prospect at the  
moment for a shift toward a more reasonable policy.  
Freedom of  research and publication, and preservation  
of  civil liberties, can be secured only in an atmosphere  
of  genuine peace. Otherwise these freedoms will slowly, 
but irretrievably, be lost.”

PAPAL WARNING
Pius XII warned against the destructive use of  nuclear 
energy in a speech to the Pontifical Academy of  Science 
on 21 February 1943, when the ordinary public still knew 
nothing of  the atomic bomb. Monsignor Sheen commented: 
“[T]he Holy Father not only knew about atomic energy and 
something of  its power, but he also, exercising his office 
as Chief  Shepherd of  the Church, asked the nations of  the 
world never to use it destructively. This counsel was not 
taken. This moral voice was unheeded.”

GROVES TELLS ME THERE IS NO URANIUM IN RUSSIA
When Szilárd tried to reach Roosevelt’s successor, President 
Truman, he was directed to James Byrnes, who would become 
Secretary of  State. After Byrnes read the memorandum,  
Szilárd stressed that if  the US would use the bomb against 
Japan, the Soviet Union could soon become an atomic power 
as well. Byrnes failed to see the importance of  the issue raised 
by Szilárd and Einstein. He replied: “General Groves tells me 
there is no uranium in Russia.”

ROOSEVELT’S DEATH 
On 12 April 1945 President Roosevelt died of  
a cerebral hemorrhage. He was succeeded by 
Vice President Truman.

 

WHY WAR?
In 1932 on the instigation of  the League of  Nations, 
Einstein and Sigmund Freud engaged in a brief  exchange 
of  letters. The central question was: “Is there any way 
of  delivering humankind from the menace of  war?” 
The exchange provided no ready answers, and Freud’s 
letters in particular were rather somber. The last one 
ended as follows:

How long have we to wait before the rest of  men turn 
pacifist? Impossible to say, and yet perhaps our hope 
that these two factors – man’s cultural disposition and 
a well-founded dread of  the form that future wars will 
take – may serve to put an end to war in the near future, 
is not chimerical. But by what ways or byways this will 
come about, we cannot guess. Meanwhile we may rest 
on the assurance that whatever makes for cultural devel-
opment is working also against war.

With kindest regards and, should this exposé prove a 
disappointment to you, my sincere regrets,

Yours,
Sigmund Freud 

HEISENBERG AND VON WEIZSÄCKER VISIT BOHR
In September 1941, Heisenberg and von Weizsäcker 
visited Bohr in German-occupied Copenhagen. During 
the visit, Heisenberg gave Bohr a small sketch of  a 
nuclear reactor. No record exists of  the conversations 
that transpired, but later accounts indicate that the 
encounter left Bohr and Heisenberg feeling disturbed .

BOHR ON INTELLIGENCE SHARING WITH RUSSIA
On 3 July 1944 Bohr sent Roosevelt a memorandum “intended 
to point out that the ‘new power’ might make an important con-
tribution to reconciliation of  the mutually opposed standpoints 
of  Bolshevist Russia and its partners”. Roosevelt was in favour 
of  the idea after speaking with Bohr for one and a half  hours. 
The president even gave Bohr the impression that he might ask 
him to undertake an exploratory mission to the Soviet Union. 
Churchill, on the other hand, firmly rejected the idea of  sharing 
intelligence with the Soviets, and told Bohr so during a meeting 
on the subject. When Bohr asked Churchill permission to write 
him a letter, the prime minister told him: “It will be an honor for 
me to receive a letter from you, but not about politics!” Churchill 
made Roosevelt change his mind, so that he too decided against 
sharing intelligence.  

SIX-MONTH STANDSTILL 
In the summer of  1940, Fermi, Szilárd, and Wigner attended 
a meeting in Washington on researching nuclear chain reactions 
with the aim of  creating a bomb. The scientists proposed a 
$500,000 plan, but were told that if  it would not work, a congres-
sional investigation might follow, and that it would be very difficult 
to defend such a large investment based on the advice of  non-
Americans. According to Szilárd: “the work on uranium in the 
United States was brought to a standstill for the next six months.”

GROVES TO THE MANHATTAN ENGINEER DISTRICT, 20 JULY 1943
“[I]t is desired that clearance be issued to Julius Robert Oppenheimer 
without delay, irrespective of  the information which you have con-
cerning Mr. Oppenheimer. He is absolutely essential to the project.”

 

ASSEMBLY OF THE MAUD COMMITTEE
After Frisch and Peierls’ warning, a committee later 
called MAUD was assembled in April 1940. It included 
Nobel laureate James Chadwick, but excluded Frisch 
and Peierls, because they were officially classified as 
“enemy aliens”. The MAUD Committee quickly decided 
that Britain should try to develop an atomic bomb. In 
December, Chadwick learned that uranium could be 
enriched and thereupon “realized that a nuclear bomb 
was not only possible, it was inevitable”. In the spring 
of  1941, the committee produced a report that provided 
the basic plans for a fission bomb. This report was sent 
to Briggs in the US, who kept it to himself. 

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MANHATTAN PROJECT
Shortly after the attack on Pearl Harbor, American  
research into nuclear power was centred on the de-
velopment of  an atomic bomb. The Army made $100 
million available for this aim. In September 1942, 
Brigadier General Leslie Groves was appointed director 
of  the highly secret Manhattan Project, a coordinated 
effort spread over multiple sites to research and create 
an atomic bomb and the materials it required. Groves 
was chosen because he had overseen the construction 
of  the Pentagon. The Manhattan Project became a 
$2-billion operation and included over 125,000 labourers 
and several newly built plants for enriching uranium.

BLACKETT ON THE START OF THE COLD WAR
Patrick Blackett, an English physicist who was part of  
the MAUD Committee, later commented: “[T]he drop-
ping of  the atomic bombs was not so much the last 
military act of  the second world war, as the first major 
operation of  the cold war with Russia now in progress.”

OPPENHEIMER’S REMORSE
When Oppenheimer met Truman for the first time on 
25 October 1945, Oppenheimer said: “Mr. President,  
I feel I have blood on my hands.” Truman, furious at  
Oppenheimer, informed an advisor: “I told him the 
blood was on my hands – to let me worry about that.” 
Truman later offered alternative versions. He told his 
Under Secretary of  State: “I don’t want to see that son 
of  a bitch in this office ever again”.

CRY-BABY SCIENTIST
On another occasion Truman called Oppenheimer a 
“cry-baby scientist”.

TELLER ON PEACE BY FORCE, 1958
“I believe we can stabilize the world and have peace 
based on force. Now, peace based on force is not 
as good as peace based on agreement, but in the 
terrible world in which we live, in the world where 
the Russians have enslaved many millions of  human 
beings, in the world where they have killed men, I 
think that for the time being the only peace we can 
have is the peace based on force”.

MATRIX MECHANICS
In 1925, Heisenberg, Born, and Jordan jointly created 
a groundbreaking formulation of  quantum mechanics 
that expanded Bohr’s quantum model. Three years later, 
Einstein nominated the three scientists for the Nobel 
Prize in Physics, but in November 1933 it was announced 
that only Heisenberg had won the prize. Jordan was most 
likely disregarded because he had joined the National 
Socialist Party in May 1933, and Born because Jordan 
was his assistant. Heisenberg wrote Born that he had 
“bad conscience” that he alone had received the Nobel 
Prize “for work done in Göttingen in collaboration – you, 
Jordan and I”.

PHILIPP E. A. LENARD
— PHYSICIST
1862 Pressburg, Austria-Hungary 

Lenard won the 1905 Nobel Prize in Physics for his 
work on cathode rays. He detested scientific work that 
was not firmly grounded in experiment and glorified 
great Forschers such as Newton. In the early 1920s, 
he became openly anti-Semitic and joined the National 
Socialist Party. This, along with his personal attacks on 
Einstein, alienated him from the scientific community.

HANS W. GEIGER
— PHYSICIST
1882 Neustadt an der Haardt, German Empire

IT IS A JOY TO BE ALIVE!
On 10 May 1933 Goebbels gave a speech to members 
of  the Berlin “German Student Association”: “The age 
of  an overly refined Jewish intellectualism has come 
to an end, and the German Revolution has made the 
road clear again for the German character. This revolu-
tion came not from above; it broke out from below. It is 
therefore in the best sense of  the word the fulfillment 
of  the will of  the people. Here stands the worker by 
the professional, the student by the soldier and young 
worker, here stands the intellectual with the proletarian.
[…]
While academic knowledge gradually isolated itself  
from life, young Germany has already long prepared 
a new, right, and normal condition.
[…]
Never have young men ever had the right so much as 
now to cry out, with Ulrich von Hutteng, “Oh Century! 
Oh Science! It is a joy to be alive!”

METALLURGICAL LABORATORY
In the summer of  1942, Arthur H. Compton, an 
American physicist and Nobel laureate, established 
the Manhattan Project’s “Metallurgical Laboratory” 
at the University of  Chicago. There, on 2 December 
1942, Fermi together with a team of  esteemed scien-
tists including Franck and Szilárd succeeded in initiat-
ing the first artificial, self-sustained nuclear chain 
reaction. Compton reported the success to James B. 
Conant, the president of  Harvard and a member of  
the Interim Committee, by a coded phone call: “The 
Italian navigator [Fermi] has just landed in the new 
world. The earth was not as large as he had estimated, 
and he arrived at the new world sooner than he had 
expected.” “Were the natives friendly?” Conant asked. 
“Everyone landed safe and happy.”

 

GERMANY’S URANIUM
The Russians were also looking for Germany’s uranium, 
which they needed for their own nuclear projects. But 
Groves, keen to thwart the Russians, captured and moved 
1,200 tons of  uranium ore from Strasbourg before the 
Russians could. This turned out to be the bulk of  the 
German stock of  uranium ore. MANFRED VON ARDENNE

— PHYSICIST 
Hamburg, German Empire

SONS OF BITCHES
Test director Kenneth Bainbridge commented to  
Oppenheimer: “Now we are all sons of  bitches.”

THE EXONERATION OF HEISENBERG
After his mother’s intervention, Heisenberg wrote Himmler 
a letter in which he explained the split between those 
who embraced and those who rejected modern physics. 
He indicated that he refused to be called a “white Jew” 
based on his academic position, and wrote: “I must ask 
for a fundamental decision. … If  Herr Stark’s view of  me 
agrees with that of  the government I shall obviously be 
asking my release from post. But if  this is not the case, 
as the Ministy of  Education has expressly assured me, 
then I ask you as Reichsführer-SS to afford me active 
protection against such attacks in your official newspaper.”
This set in motion a yearlong series of  hearings that 
ultimately led to Heisenberg’s exoneration. Himmler 
wrote Heisenberg on 21 July 1938 about this outcome. 
On the same day, he also wrote Reinhard Heydrich, a 
high-ranking Nazi official: “Heisenberg is a decent person 
and that we cannot afford to lose or to silence decisively 
this man, who is still young and can still produce a rising 
generation in science.”

TRIUMPH DES WILLENS
In 1941, Fritz Todt, the Minister of  Armaments and War 
until his death in February 1942, tried to convince Hitler 
that Germany could not win the war considering the state 
of  the economy and the available military resources. Hitler 
nevertheless continued to believe that victory was not a 
question of  armament, but of  will. Shortly afterward, Todt 
was killed in a plane that Speer just missed, and that blew 
up on take-off. Todt had been in conflict with Hitler for 
some time; that very same afternoon, Hitler appointed 
Speer to take over Todt’s responsibilities.

GÖTTINGEN EIGHTEEN
In a press conference on 5 April 1957, Konrad Adenauer, 
Chancellor of  (West) Germany, suggested that the 
German armed forces should be equipped with tactical 
nuclear weapons. He argued these had become “almost 
regular weapons” and that the upgrade was “nothing 
more than further development of  the artillery”.
The proposition met with wide and fierce resistance. 
Among the protesters were the so-called Göttingen 
Eighteen, a group of  eighteen prominent nuclear 
scientists including Born, Gerlach, Hahn, Heisenberg, 
Von Laue, Strassman, Von Weizsäcker, and Wirtz. 

On 12 April 1957, they published a manifesto outlining 
their concerns in the three biggest German newspaper. 
It was drafted by Von Weizsäcker, who also organized 
the group. Bagge and Diebner were not among the 
Eighteen. 

ADENAUER 
Adenauer chose Pascual Jordan, who had reentered 
politics after the period of  denazification, to argue his 
case in support for nuclear armament. This further 
strained his relationships with his former friends and 
colleagues.

HITLER’S RISE TO POWER
Hitler was sworn in as Chancellor of  Germany on 
30 January 1933. His ascension to power prompted 
many Jews to leave the country: in 1933 alone, around 
37,500 Jews (of  the about 523,000 Jews in Germany) 
emigrated.

ANSCHLUSS
On 12 March 1938, Austria was 
incorporated into the Third Reich.

INSERTING GOD
The phrase “We thank God that it has come to us, 
instead of  to our enemies; and we pray that He 
may guide us to use it in His ways and for His pur-
poses” was not part of  the draft for this speech.

OPPENHEIMER ON THE THREE PERSON’D GOD
“Why I chose the name [Trinity] is not clear, but I 
know what thoughts were in my mind. There is a 
poem of  John Donne, written just before his death, 
which I know and love. From it a quotation: 
As west and east
In all flat maps – and I am one – are one,
So death doth touch the Resurrection.
That still does not make Trinity; but in another, 
better known devotional poem Donne opens,  
Batter my heart, three person’d God.
Beyond this, I have no clues whatever.”

SOVIET ESPIONAGE
Among the physicists in Los Alamos was Klaus Fuchs, a communist 
who had fled Germany and spied for the Soviet Union. After working 
for Peierls in Britain and later New York, Fuchs joined Bethe’s team 
in August 1944, where he worked on the problem of  imploding the 
fissionable core of  the plutonium bomb. Fuchs also worked with Von 
Neumann on designs for a fusion bomb and filed a patent with him 
in 1946. Thanks to his photographic memory, Fuchs could provide 
his Soviet case officer with an outline for creating a hydrogen bomb. 
Furthermore, he could tell how much unarium-235 the US posessed, 
so that Stalin knew it was not yet prepared for a nuclear war. 
In 1949 Fuchs was unmasked by British intelligence officers and 
sentenced to fourteen years in prison. 

BOMB AT ONE O’CLOCK
Shortly after the war, Von Neumann said: “With the  
Russians it is not a question of  whether but of  when.” 
And in 1950 he remarked: “If  you say why not bomb 
[the Soviets] tomorrow, I say why not today? If  you 
say today at five o’clock, I say why not one o’clock?”

DISCOVERY OF NUCLEAR FISSION
In December 1938 at the Kaiser 
Wilhelm Institute for Chemistry, 
Otto Hahn and Fritz Strassmann 
bombarded uranium with neutrons 
and found this created barium.

FERMI’S RELATION TO FASCISM
As a university professor and a founding member of   
the fascist Accademia d’Italia, Fermi was required to 
become a member of  the Fascist Party. He was not 
politically active and in 1938, when the anti-Semitic 
Charter of  Race came into effect, Fermi emigrated 
to the US with his Jewish wife and children. I.I. Rabi 
called Fermi “Mussolini’s greatest gift to America”.

THE MARTIANS FROM AUSTRIA-HUNGARY
Von Neumann, Szilárd, Teller, and Wigner were 
exceptional Jewish scientists who were all born in 
Budapest around the same time. They left (or did 
not return to) Germany and Austria-Hungary when 
anti-Semitism became widespread. Houtermans 
explained: “[These] people were really visitors from 
Mars; for them … it was difficult to speak without 
an accent and therefore they chose to pretend to be 
Hungarians whose inability to speak any language 
without accent is well known; except Hungarian, and 
[these] brilliant men all lived elsewhere.”

ERICH SCHUMANN
— PHYSICIST 
1898 Potsdam, German Empire

THE FEASIBILITY OF FISSION BOMBS
In February 1940, while working at the English University
of  Birmingham, Frisch and Peierls discovered that a fission 
bomb requires only “a pound or two” of  uranium-235. They 
set out the implications of  their findings in a top-secret 
memo, which reached Britain’s most important scientific 
committee for defence.

THE ROOSEVELT-CHURCHILL AIDE-MEMOIRE, 
19 SEPTEMBER 1944
“The suggestion that the world should be informed regarding the 
Tube Alloys, with a view to an international agreement regarding 
its control and use, is not accepted.The matter should continue 
to be regarded as of  the utmost secrecy; but when a ‘bomb’ is 
finally available, it might perhaps, after mature consideration, be 
used against the Japanese, who should be warned that this bom-
bardment will be repeated until they surrender. Full collaboration 
between the United States and the British Government in devel-
oping Tube Alloys for military and commercial purposes should 
continue after the defeat of  Japan unless and until terminated 
by joint agreement. 
Enquiries should be made regarding the activities of  Professor 
Bohr and steps taken to ensure he is responsible for no leakage 
of  information particularly to the Russians.”

FILING ERROR
Due to a filing error in Britain, the aide-memoire never 
reached Stimson and Groves in the US. Groves questioned 
the document’s authenticity even when the British furnished 
a copy, after the war.

GOD MADE US BLIND
In 1934, in Fascist Italy, Fermi together with his team 
began systematically bombarding all the known elements 
with neutrons. Fermi misunderstood the nature of  the 
results. Emilio Segrè, who assisted him, later said:
“God, for His own inscrutable reason, made everyone 
blind at that time to the phenomena of  nuclear fission.”

MORALE WINS WARS
On 21 October 1939 Szilárd, Teller, and Wigner briefed the US 
Army on possible military applications of  nuclear chain reac-
tions. An Army representative told them that they were naïve to 
believe that a new explosive could make a significant contribu-
tion to defence, and that troop morale was more important than 
weapons in winning wars. Szilárd: “Wigner … said in his high-
pitched voice that it was very interesting for him to hear this. 
He always thought that weapons were very important and that 
this is what costs money, and this is why the Army need such a 
large appropriation. But he was very interested to hear that he 
was wrong: it’s not weapons but the morale which wins the wars. 
And if  this is correct, perhaps one should take a second look at 
the budget of  the Army, and maybe the budget should be cut. 
[The representative] wheeled around to look at Mr. Wigner and 
said, ‘Well as far as those $2,000 are concerned, you can have it’.”

PEARL HARBOR
Japan attacked Pearl Harbor on 7 December 1941 and 
the US entered World War II, fighting against Imperial 
Japan, Nazi Germany, and Fascist Italy – the three powers 
that had signed the Axis Pact in September 1940.

JAMES FRANCK
— PHYSICIST
1882 Hamburg, 
German Empire VICTOR F. WEISSKOPF 

— PHYSICIST
1908 Vienna, 
Austria-Hungary

EUGENE WIGNER 
— PHYSICIST & 
MATHEMATICIAN 
1902 Budapest, 
Austria-Hungary 
 

EDWARD TELLER 
— PHYSICIST
1908 Budapest, 
Austria-Hungary

GOD DOES NOT THROW DICE
Einstein found that the uncertainty principle 
left too much to chance: “I, at any rate, am 
convinced that God does not throw dice.”
To which Bohr gave the counter-response: 
“Nor is it our business to prescribe to God 
how He should run the world.”         

LENARD, “EIN GROSSER TAG FÜR DIE 
NATURFORSCHUNG”, 13 MAY 1933
The foremost example of  the damaging influence upon 
natural science from the Jewish side was presented 
by Mr. Einstein, with his “theories” mathematically 
blundered together out of  good, preexisting knowledge 
and his own arbitrary garnishes … One cannot spare 
researchers, even those with genuine achievements, 
from the charge that they indeed first let the “relativity-
Jews” become established in Germany. They did not 
see – or did not want to see – how very erroneous it 
was, even in a nonscholarly connection, to consider 
especially this Jew as a “good German”.

THE CIVIL SERVICE LAW
The Civil Service Law, which was passed in April 1933, 
forced “non-Aryans” and opponents of  the regime to 
retire from civil service. In total, around 1,145 university 
teachers were driven from their posts. Although the  
Civil Service Law was not directly related to the Deutsche 
Physik movement, it disproportionately affected profes-
sors associated with Jüdische Physik. Its effects were 
especially profound at the University of  Göttingen, 
which hosted many prominent Jewish physicists and 
was the centre of  nuclear physics at the time. 
 

FREUD CAN HEARTILY RECOMMEND THE GESTAPO
As part of  his application for an exit visa, Freud had 
to sign the following statement: “I hereby confirm 
that after the Anschluss of  Austria to the German 
Reich I have been treated by the German authorities 
and particularly the Gestapo with all the respect and  
consideration due to my scientific reputation, that 
I could live and work in full freedom, that I could 
continue to pursue my activities in every way I desired, 
that I found full support from all concerned in this 
respect, and that I have not the slightest reason for  
any complaint.” Freud was ready to sign, but he did 
ask the Nazi officer if  he could add one sentence: 
“I can heartily recommend the Gestapo to anyone.”

KURT DIEBNER
— PHYSICIST 
1905 Obernessa, German Empire 

SIEGFRIED FLÜGGE
— PHYSICIST
1912 Dresden, German Empire

PAUL HARTECK
— CHEMIST
1902 Vienna, Austria-Hungary

 

WALTHER W. G. BOTHE
— PHYSICIST
1891 Oranienburg, German Empire

R. ABRAHAM ESAU
— PHYSICIST
1884 Tiegenhagen, German Empire

ENRICO FERMI
— PHYSICIST
1901 Rome, Italy

LEÓ SZILÁRD 
— PHYSICIST
1898 Budapest, 
Austria-Hungary

HEISENBERG IN THE US
In the summer of  1939, Heisenberg visited the 
US. Friends and colleagues who were working 
there, including Fermi, Oppenheimer, and his pupil 
Samuel Goudsmit, urged him to stay and work at 
their American institutes. Heisenberg returned to 
Nazi Germany, however, saying he felt obliged to 
his students. “If  I abandoned them now, I would feel 
like a traitor ... I don’t think I have much choice in 
the matter. I firmly believe that one must be consistent 
... People must learn to prevent catastrophes, not to 
run away from them. Perhaps we ought even to insist 
that everyone braves what storms there are in his 
own country.”

ALBERT EINSTEIN 
— PHYSICIST

1879 Ulm, German Empire

DEUTSCHE PHYSIK
When Hitler seized power in 1933 and Joseph Goebbels 
declared the end of  “Jewish intellectualism”, Lenard 
and Stark initiated the nationalistic Deutsche Physik 
movement. They promoted Deutsche Physik as proper 
German physics and aimed to delegitimize what they 
called Jüdische Physik, the misbegotten product of  
“relativity-Jews” such as Einstein. 
Proponents of  Deutsche Physik shared the view that 
the racial heritage of  an observer directly affects the 
perspective of  his work; according to them, Jews could 
be neither good Germans nor good scientists. They 
believed in a mechanical, yet organic, nonmaterialistic 
universe in which discovery could only come through 
observation and experiment, as opposed to purely  
theoretical endeavors. 
A number of  Nazi leaders, including Bernhard 
Rust, the Minister of  Science, Education and National 
Culture, supported the Deutsche Physik movement. 
However, it started to lose traction with the Party around 
1940. One of  the reasons was that Jüdische Physik, not 
Deutsche Physik, proved to be essential to the Uranprojekt.

TRUMAN ON INTIMIDATING RUSSIA
On 12 April 1946 Truman remarked: “The Russians 
are more rather than less likely to come to an effec-
tive agreement for the control of  atomic energy if  we 
keep our strength and continue to produce bombs.”

WE MUST NOT LOSE A SINGLE DAY
After Hitler’s suicide, the first Instrument of  Surrender 
was signed at Reims on 7 May 1945, which meant “im-
mediate, simultaneous and unconditional surrender on 
all fronts.” This meant the end of  WWII in Europe.
The work on the Manhattan Project continued 
unabated. General Groves was determined that the 
atomic bomb should be the instrument to end the war, 
telling his collaborators time after time: “We must not 
lose a single day.”

OPPENHEIMER’S IMPRESSION OF TRINITY
A verse from the Bhagavad Gita came to Oppenheimer’s 
mind when he witnessed the explosion of  the Trinity 
test: “If  the radiance of  a thousand suns were to burst 
at once into the sky, that would be like the splendor of  
the Mighty One.”

FERMI’S SCIENTIFIC GAMBLE
On the day before Trinity, Groves became annoyed
with Fermi “when he suddenly offered to take wagers 
from his fellow scientists on whether or not the bomb 
would ignite the atmosphere, and if  so, whether it 
would merely destroy New Mexico or destroy the world”.

CHOOSING THE TARGET
In June 1945, the Interim Committee presented Truman with the fol-
lowing recommendations:
— The bomb should be used against Japan as soon 
 as possible.
—  It should be used on a dual target – that is, a military 
 installation or war plant surrounded by or adjacent to 
 houses and other buildings most susceptible to damage.
— It should be used without prior warning of  the nature 
 of  the weapon.
Eventually four cities were selected as possible targets: Hiroshima, 
Kokura, Nigata, and Kyoto. These cities were to be spared from other 
air raids, because so-called virgin targets allowed for more accurate 
analysis of  the atomic bomb blast. A heartfelt plea from a Japan expert 
persuaded Stimson to cross Kyoto, the “city of  temples”, off  the list 
of  targets; Stimson was receptive to the expert’s arguments because he 
had spent his honeymoon in Kyoto.    

PA, THIS REQUIRES ACTION!
On 11 October 1939 Alexander Sachs, a Jewish economist 
and long-time friend of  the President, handed Roosevelt 
the Einstein-Szilárd letter. During a second meeting the 
next day, Roosevelt asked Sachs, “Alex, what you are 
after is to see that the Nazis don’t blow us up?” to which 
he replied: “Precisely.” Roosevelt then called in General 
“Pa” Watson and told him: “Pa, this requires action!”

POPE OF PHYSICS
When Einstein came to Princeton in 1933, the French 
physicist Paul Langevin said: “It’s as important an event 
as would be the transfer for the Vatican from Rome to 
the New World. The Pope of  Physics has moved and the 
US will now become the center of  natural sciences.”

FARM HALL CAPTIVES ON HIROSHIMA
After hearing a preliminary report on America’s nuclear 
attack on Hiroshima, a lively discussion ensued among 
the German scientists, who knew nothing of  the  
Manhattan Project: 
Heisenberg: “All I can suggest is that some dilettante 
in America who knows very little about it has bluffed 
them in saying, ‘If  you drop this it has the equivalent of  
20,000 tons’, and in reality doesn’t work at all.”
Hahn: “At any rate, Heisenberg, you’re just second-raters 
and you may well pack up.” 
Heisenberg: “I quite agree.”
Hahn: “They are fifty years more advanced than we.”
Heisenberg: “I don’t believe a word of  the whole thing. 
They must have spent the whole of  their £500,000,000 
in separating isotopes; and then it’s possible.”
Von Weizsäcker: “I think it’s dreadful of  the Americans  
to have done it. I think it is madness on their part.”
Heisenberg: “One can’t say that. One could equally  
well say, ‘That’s the quickest way to end the war.’”
Hahn: “That’s what consoles me.”

WHAT IS WRONG WITH US?
On 21 September 1942 Szilárd wrote a memorandum 
titled “What is wrong with us”: “Perhaps it would be well 
if  we devoted more thought to the ultimate political ne-
cessities which will arise out of  our present work. You may 
feel, however, that it is of  more immediate concern to us 
that the work which is pursued at Chicago [the Metallurgi-
cal Laboratory] is not progressing as rapidly as it should.
[…] 
[W]e may take the stand that those who have originated 
the work on this terrible weapon and those who have mate-
rially contributed to its development, have, before God and 
the World, the duty to see to it that it should be ready to 
be used at the proper time and in the proper way. I believe 
that each of  us has now to decide where he feels that his 
responsibility lies.”

ASSEMBLY OF THE BRIGGS ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Roosevelt had James Briggs, an influential engineer and 
administrator, assemble the secret Briggs Advisory Commit-
tee in October 1939. The committee consisted of  Wigner, 
Szilárd, Teller, and Briggs himself. $6000 was budgeted for 
research into nuclear chain reactions conducted by Fermi 
and Szilárd at Colombia University, Chicago.

TO WORK IN THE SOVIET UNION
Thiessen was the first to come in contact with the Soviets and managed to strike a deal. In  
May 1945, the four German scientists were transported, under a diplomatic cover, to the 
Soviet Union. Von Ardenne was appointed as the head of  the newly founded Institute A, where 
the equipment from his laboratory was installed. The authorities asked him to dedicate himself  
to making an atomic bomb, but he realized that meant he would probably never be allowed
to return to his homeland. He requested to work instead on the enrichment of  uranium, a less 
warlike enterprise, and leave the actual construction to Soviet scientists. This was approved, but 
eventually Von Ardenne did work on the Soviet hydrogen bomb and, in 1953, received the Stalin 
Prize (first class, the highest civilian honour) for his contributions. The next year he returned to 
Germany along with his valuable equipment, which he installed in a new private research facility 
in Dresden.

 

PLANNING FOR CAPTURE
Von Ardenne made a pact with Gustav Hertz (Nobel laureate and 
research director at Siemens), Peter A. Thiessen (chemist at 
Humboldt University in Berlin), and Max Volmer (chemist at Berlin 
Technische Hochschule). They pledged that whoever first made 
contact with the Soviets would speak for the rest and see to it that 
their institutes would not be plundered by the approaching Red 
Army, that they could continue their work uninterrupted, and that 
they would be protected from later prosecution.

FRITZ HABER
— CHEMIST
1868 Breslau, 
German Empire 

THEY CAN HAVE THEIR EMPEROR
On 28 May 1945, Herbert Hoover told Truman in a meeting: 
“I am convinced that if  you, as President, will make a short-
wave broadcast to the people of  Japan – tell them they can 
have their Emperor if  they surrender, that it will not mean 
unconditional surrender except for the militarists – you’ll get 
a peace in Japan – you’ll have both wars over.”

WE KNEW WE DIDN’T NEED TO DO IT
Intelligence officer Brigadier General Carter Clarke: 
“We brought them down to an abject surrender through 
the accelerated sinking of  their merchant marine and 
hunger alone, and when we didn’t need to do it, and 
we knew we didn’t need to do it, and they knew that 
we knew we didn’t need to do it, we used them as an 
experiment for two atomic bombs.”

HIROSHIMA, A MILITARY BASE
Hiroshima was a city with about 345,000 residents. In addi-
tion, 40,000 military personnel were stationed inside the 
city. Located nearby were military camps and the headquar-
ters of  Japan’s 2nd General Army. However, in earlier drafts of  
Truman’s speech (written by White House lawyer and speech-
writer Samuel Rosenberg and poet Archibald MacLeish), 
Hiroshima was characterized as “purely a military base”.

THE ONLY SCIENTIST THAT TRULY CHANGED HISTORY
Fuchs’ espionage likely cancelled an Anglo-American agree-
ment in 1950 for Britain to receive American-made atomic 
bombs. East Germany honoured him with the Order of  
Karl Marx in 1979. Hans Bethe said that Fuchs was “the 
only physicist I know who truly changed history”.

A NEW URANIUM CLUB
Diebner put together a new group of  nuclear physicists 
to work on the Uranprojekt. For the first meeting, on 
16 September 1939, he invited Walther Bothe, Siegfried 
Flügge, Hans Geiger, Paul Harteck, Gerhard Hoffmann, 
Josef  Mattauch, and Georg Stetter. Hahn was not  
invited due to his aversion to the National Socialist 
Party. The second meeting included Klaus Clusius, 
Robert Döpel, Werner Heisenberg, and Carl Friedrich 
von Weizsäcker.

A DEMONSTRATION NOT FAR FROM TOKYO
Lewis Strauss, special assistant to Secretary of  the Navy James Forrestal: 
“My proposal to the Secretary was that the weapon should be demon-
strated over some area accessible to Japanese observers and where its 
effects would be dramatic. ... [A] satisfactory place for such a demonstra-
tion would be a large forest of  cryptomeria trees not far from Tokyo.
… [A] bomb detonated at a suitable height above such a forest … would 
lay the trees out in windrows from the center of  the explosion in all direc-
tions as though they were matchsticks, and, of  course, set them afire 
in the center. It seemed to me that a demonstration of  this sort would 
prove to the Japanese that we could destroy any of  their cities at will … 
Secretary Forrestal agreed wholeheartedly with the recommendation.”
               

Released by Bertrand Russell, and signed by Einstein just 
before his death on 18 April 1955. 
We invite this Congress, and through it the scientists of  the 
world and the general public, to subscribe to the following 
resolution: In view of  the fact that in any future world war 
nuclear weapons will certainly be employed, and that such 
weapons threaten the continued existence of  mankind, we urge 
the governments of  the world to realize, and to acknowledge 
publicly, that their purpose cannot be furthered by a world war, 
and we urge them, consequently, to find peaceful means for the 
settlement of  all matters of  dispute between them.

Max Born — Percy W. Bridgman — Albert Einstein —
Leopold Infeld — Frédéric Joliot-Curie — Herman J. Muller — 
Linus Pauling — Cecil F. Powell — Józef  Rotblat — 
Bertrand Russell — Hideki Yukawa

RUSSELL–EINSTEIN MANIFESTO, 9 JULY 1955

VON LAUE ON THE “LESART”
“After [the nuclear attack on Hiroshima], we talked much about the 
conditions of  an atomic explosion.… Later, during the table conversation, 
the Lesart (‘reading’ or ‘version’) was developed that the German 
atomic physicists really had not wanted the atomic bomb, either    
because it was impossible to achieve it during the expected duration 
of  the war or because they simply did not want to have it at all. The 
leader in these discussions was Weizsäcker; I did not hear the mention 
of  any ethical point of  view. Heisenberg was mostly silent.” 

      

HOW DID HE COME INTO THIS BUSINESS?
In a secret memorandum to Lord Cherwell in September 1944, 
Churchill expressed his concerns on the position of  Niels Bohr.
“The President [Roosevelt] and I are much worried about Professor 
Bohr. How did he come into this business? He is a great advocate 
of  publicity. He made an unauthorized disclosure to Chief  Justice 
Frankfurter who startled the President by telling him he knew all 
the details. He says he is in close correspondence with a Russian 
professor, an old friend of  his in Russia to whom he has written 
about the matter and may be writing still. The Russian professor 
has urged him to go to Russia in order to discuss matters. What is 
all this about? It seems to me Bohr ought to be confined or at any 
rate made to see that he is very near the edge of  mortal crimes.”

effects of  these actions. Therefore, we cannot remain silent 
to all political issues. We align ourselves with the freedom 
that the Western world represents against Communism. 
We cannot deny the fear of  the H-bomb contributes to the 
maintenance of  peace in the whole world, and freedom in 
part of  the world. However, this form of  peace and freedom 
is in the long term untenable, and the collapse of  this situation 
is potentially deadly. We have no expertise to make concrete 
political suggestions to the Superpowers. We believe that a 
small country such as West Germany is best protected, and 
world peace most assisted when nuclear weapons of  any type 
are banned. In any case, none of  the undersigned are pre-
pared to participate in the creation, testing or deployment 
of  any type of  nuclear weapon. At the same time, we feel it 
is extremely important that we continue to work together on 
the peaceful development of  nuclear energy.

Fritz Bopp — Max Born — Rudolf  Fleischmann — Walther 
Gerlach — Otto Hahn — Otto Haxel — Werner Heisenberg 
— Hans Kopfermann — Max von Laue — Heinz Maier-Leibnitz 
— Josef  Mattauch — Friedrich Adolf  Paneth — Wolfgang Paul 
— Wolfgang Riezler — Fritz Straßmann — Wilhelm Walcher 
— Carl Friedrich von Weizsäcker — Karl Wirtz 

—  Tactical nuclear weapons have the same destructive effect 
as normal atomic bombs. They are ‘tactical’ only insofar 
as they are applied not only to civilian residences, but also 
to ground troops. Every single tactical nuclear weapon has 
a similar effect to the first atom bomb, which destroyed 
Hiroshima. Since tactical nuclear weapons are available 

 in significant numbers, their destructive effect is on the 
whole much larger. They are only ‘small’ in comparison to 

 recently developed bombs, principally the hydrogen bomb.

—  There is no natural limit for the development of  life-threat- 
 ening effects of  strategic nuclear weapons. Today a tactical  
 nuclear weapon can destroy a small city, and a hydrogen  
 bomb can render an entire region such as the Ruhr Valley 
 uninhabitable. Already today, one can probably wipe out  
 the entire population of  West Germany with the radioac- 
 tivity from H-bombs. We know of  no technical means to  
 protect a large population from this threat.

We realize how difficult it is to foresee the political conse-
quences of  these facts. Since we are apolitical, no one 
expects us to do so. Our profession, i.e. pure science and its 
application, through which we bring many young people into 
our fold, leaves us with the responsibility for the potential 

GÖTTINGEN MANIFESTO, 12 APRIL 1957

RICHARD FEYNMAN ON CELEBRATING THE BOMBING
“The only reaction I remember … was very considerable 
elation and excitement … there were parties and people 
getting drunk. … [I]t would make a tremendously inter-
esting contrast of  what was going on at Los Alamos at 
the same time as what was going on in Hiroshima.”

HAHN FEARED A GERMAN ATOMIC BOMB
Von Weizsäcker approached Hahn in October 1939 

and told him that joining the Uranprojekt would save 

his Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Chemistry. “Well, I 

think you are right, I shall”, Hahn responded. Then 

he became emotional and said, ”But if  my work leads 

to a nuclear bomb for Hitler, I will commit suicide”.

THE WHITE JEW
In July 1937, the attacks culminated in Stark calling 
Heisenberg a “white Jew” (“Jewish in character” as 
opposed to Jewish by ancestry) in the Das Schwarze 
Korps, an SS-controlled newspaper. The fact that 
Heisenberg and other “Jewish” scientists were Nobel 
laureates was put down as a demonstration of  Jewish 
influence exemplified also by the award of  the Nobel 
Peace Prize to Ossietzky, who was being held in a 
concentration camp. Furthermore, the editors of  Das 
Schwarze Korps threatened that people like Heisenberg, 
the “Ossietzky of  physics”, should be made to “disap-
pear” like the Jews.

EINSTEIN TO THE FRENCH PHILOSOPHICAL 
SOCIETY, 6 APRIL 1922
“If  my theory of  relativity is proven succesful, Germa-
ny will claim me as a German and France will declare 
that I am a citizen of  the world. Should my theory 
prove untrue, France will say that I am a German and 
Germany will declare that I am a Jew.”

FREUD ON NAZI BOOK BURNINGS
After Goebbels’ speech the Nazis began their ceremonial 
book burnings, which targeted works of  “Jewish intellec-
tualism”. These included the works of  Einstein and Freud, 
and thus in Why War? Freud commented: “At least I burn 
in the best of  company.” That year he wrote a British col-
league: “What progress we are making. In the Middle Ages 
they would have burned me. Now they are content with 
burning my books.”

SPREADING THE IDEA OF NUCLEAR FISSION
The Meitner-Frisch interpretation of  nuclear fission 
made it across the Atlantic within days: the Danish 
physicist Niels Bohr and the Belgian theoretician 
Léon Rosenfeld spread the news in Princeton and 
New York. There it reached Szilárd, who immediately 
thought that “the world was headed for grief”. 

LENARD, “DEUTSCHE PHYSIK”, 1936
“‘German physics?’ you will ask – I could also have said 
Aryan physics or physics of  the Nordic types of  people, 
physics of  the probers of  reality, of  truth seekers, the 
physics of  those who have founded scientific research. 
‘Science is international and will always remain so!’  
you will want to protest. But this is inevitably based 
upon a fallacy. In reality, as with everything that man 
creates, science is determined by race and blood.”

SIGMUND S. FREUD
— PSYCHOANALYST
1856 Freiberg in Mähren, 
Austrian Empire

 

VON ARDENNE’S LABORATORY
Von Ardenne owned an impressive private research laboratory 
in Berlin. In the 1930s and during World War II he worked 
with his staff  on problems in nuclear physics. This research 
was funded in part by the Reich Postal Ministry and indirectly 
linked to the Uranprojekt. When Houtermans was released 
from the Berlin prison, he took a position at von Ardenne’s 
laboratory. There he discovered that plutonium and neptunium 
instead of  uranium can be used as fissional fuels. Fearing what 
the Uranprojekt might produce, he issued a warning to Wigner.

THE UNCERTAINTY PRINCIPLE
Heisenberg formulated the uncertainty principle in 
1927 at Bohr’s institute in Copenhagen. The principle 
was based on his earlier work with Born and Jordan. 
Regarding the principle, Heisenberg said: 
“In the strict formulation of  the causal law  
– if  we know the present, we can calculate the future 
– it is not the conclusion that is wrong, but the premise.”

As the press reports during the last few days contain partly 
incorrect statements regarding the alleged work carried out 
in Germany on the atomic bomb, we would like to set out 
briefly the development of  the work on the uranium problem.
1. The fission of  the atomic nucleus in uranium was discov-
ered by Hahn and Strassman … in December 1938. It was 
the result of  pure scientific research, which had nothing to 
do with practical uses.
2. At the beginning of  the war a group of  research workers 
was formed with instructions to investigate the practical 
application of  [nuclear] energies.Towards the end of  1941 
the preliminary scientific work had shown that it would be 
possible to use the nuclear energies for the production of  
heat… [I]t did not appear feasible at the time to produce a 
bomb with the technical possibilities available in Germany. 
Therefore, the subsequent work was concentrated on the 
[nuclear reactor] for which, apart from uranium, heavy water 
is essential.
3. For this purpose the plant of  the Norsk Hydro at Rjukan 
was enlarged for the production of  larger quantities of  heavy 
water. The attacks on this plant … stopped this production 
towards the end of  1943. [...]
5. With the existing supplies of  heavy water the experiments 
for the production of  energy were continued first in Berlin 
and later at Haigerloch. […]
 On the whole, the funds made available by the German 
authorities … for uranium were extremely small compared to 
those employed by the Allies. The number of  people engaged 
in the development (scientists and others, at the institutes 
and in industry) hardly exceeded a few hundred.
 
Otto Hahn — Walther Gerlach — P. Harteck — H. Korsching 
— K. Wirtz — W. Heisenberg — C. F. v. Weizsäcker — 
E. Bagge — K. Diebner — M. v. Laue*  

*My signature signifies that I share responsibility for the 
accuracy of  the above statement, but not that I took any part 
whatever in the above mentioned work. M. v. Laue

FARM HALL CAPTIVES’ PRESS STATEMENT, 8 AUGUST 1945

“Being aware that Bohr was under the surveillance of  
the German political authorities and that his assertions 
about me would probably be reported to Germany, I 
tried to conduct this talk in such a way as to preclude 
putting my life into immediate danger. This talk prob-
ably started with my question as to whether or not it 
was right for physicists to devote themselves in war-
time to the uranium problem – as there was the possi-
bility that progress in this sphere could lead to grave 
consequences in the technique of  the war. Bohr under-

stood the meaning of  this question immediately, as I 
realized from his slightly frightened reaction. He replied 
as far as I can remember with a counter-question, ‘Do 
you really think that uranium fission could be utilized 
for the construction of  weapons?’ I may have replied: 
‘I know that this is in principle possible, but it would 
require a terrific technical effort, which, one can only 
hope, cannot be realized in this war.’ Bohr was shocked 
by my reply, obviously assuming that I had intended to 
convey to him that Germany had made great progress 

in the direction of  manufacturing atomic weapons. 
Although I tried subsequently to correct this false 
impression I probably did not succeed in winning 
Bohr’s complete trust, especially as I only dared to 
speak guardedly (which was definitely a mistake on 
my part), being afraid that some phrase or other could 
later be held against me. I was very unhappy about the 
result of  this conversation.”

HEISENBERG TO JUNGK, CIRCA 1955

Heisenberg and Bohr discussed the German Uran-projekt 
in a private conversation in August 1947. They agreed 
to quit disturbing “the spirits of  the past”. However, the 
publication of  Robert Jungk’s Brighter Than a Thousand 
Suns in 1957, which included a letter on the events 
written by Heisenberg as well as Bohr’s subsequent 
letter to Heisenberg (which was never sent) stirred an 
on-going debate on the events of  the meeting and 
Heisenberg’s position regarding the Nazi regime and 
the German bomb project. 

QUIT DISTURBING THE SPIRITS OF THE PAST

ber quite clearly our conversation in my room at the 
Institute, where in vague terms you spoke in a manner 
that could only give me the firm impression that, under 
your leadership, everything was being done in Germany 
to develop atomic weapons and that you said that there 
was no need to talk about details since you were com-
pletely familiar with them and had spent the past two 
years working more or less exclusively on such prepara-
tions. I listened to this without speaking since [a] great 
matter for mankind was at issue in which, despite our 

personal friendship, we had to be regarded as represen-
tatives of  two sides engaged in mortal combat. That my 
silence and gravity, as you write in the letter, could be 
taken as an expression of  shock at your reports that it 
was possible to make an atomic bomb is a quite pecu-
liar misunderstanding, which must be due to the great 
tension in your own mind. From the day three years 
earlier when I realized that slow neutrons could only 
cause fission in Uranium 235 and not 238, it was of  
course obvious to me that a bomb with certain effect 

could be produced by separating the uraniums. In June 
1939 I had even given a public lecture in Birmingham 
about uranium fission, where I talked about the effects 
of  such a bomb but of  course added that the technical 
preparations would be so large that one did not know 
how soon they could be overcome. If  anything in my 
behavior could be interpreted as shock, it did not derive 
from such reports but rather from the news, as I had 
to understand it, that Germany was participating vigor-
ously in a race to be the first with atomic weapons. 

Besides, at the time I knew nothing which I learned only 
the following year when I was able to go to England after 
being informed that the German occupation force in 
Denmark had made preparations for my arrest.

All this is of  course just a rendition of  what I remember 
clearly from our conversations, which subsequently 
were naturally the subject of  thorough discussions at 
the Institute and with other trusted friends in Denmark. 
It is quite another matter that, at that time and ever 

since, I have always had the definite impression that 
you and Weizsäcker had arranged the symposium at 
the German Institute, in which I did not take part myself  
as a matter of  principle, and the visit to us in order to 
assure yourselves that we suffered no harm and to try 
in every way to help us in our dangerous situation.”

“Personally, I remember every word of  our conversa-
tions, which took place on a background of  extreme 
sorrow and tension for us here in Denmark. In particu-
lar, it made a strong impression both on Margrethe and 
me, and on everyone at the Institute that the two of  you 
spoke to, that you and Weizsäcker expressed your 
definite conviction that Germany would win and that it 
was therefore quite foolish for us to maintain the hope 
of  a different outcome of  the war and to be reticent as 
regards all German offers of  cooperation. I also remem-

BOHR’S DRAFT FOR A LETTER TO HEISENBERG, CIRCA 1957

FRIEDRICH G. ‘FRITZ’ HOUTERMANS 
— PHYSICIST 
Zoppot, German Empire
 

MAX BORN
— PHYSICIST & MATHEMATICIAN
1882 Breslau, German Empire

CARL FRIEDRICH VON WEIZSÄCKER
— PHYSICIST
1912 Kiel, German Empire 

NIELS H. D. BOHR
— PHYSICIST
1885 Copenhagen, 
Denmark 

EINSTEIN’S LETTER TO ROOSEVELT
In August 1939, Szilárd with the help of  Wigner and 
Teller (all three Hungarian immigrants) drafted a 
warning letter on the dangers of  atomic power and 
the possibility of  a German nuclear bomb. It urged 
Roosevelt to speed up scientific research in the US. 
The letter was signed by Einstein.BOHR’S REACTION

When Frisch told Bohr of  their interpretation of  nuclear 
fission, he said, “Oh what idiots we have all been! 
Oh but this is wonderful! This is just as it must be! 
Have you and Lise Meitner written a paper about it?”

FRISCH-MEITNER INTERPRETATION
Lise Meitner,  and her nephew Otto 
Frisch were the first to explain how 
the uranium nucleus had actually 
split into smaller parts. They called 
this “nuclear fission”.

EMILIO G. SEGRÈ
— PHYSICIST
1905 Tivoli, Italy 
 

FRITZ HABER’S GAS TROOPS
Otto Hahn and James Franck were part of  Haber’s 
specialized “gas troops”. Hahn said he felt “profoundly 
ashamed and perturbed” on seeing the results of  their 
attacks.

HIMMLER TO HEISENBERG, 21 JULY 1938
Only today can I answer your letter of  21 July 1937, in 
which you direct yourself  to me because of  the article 
of  Professor Stark in Das Schwarze Korps.
I have – especially because you were recommended 
to me by my family – had your case investigated with 
special care and precision. I am glad to be able to inform 
you that I do not approve the attack of  Das Schwarze Korps 
through its article, and that I have taken measures against 
any further attack on you. I hope I shall see you in Berlin 
in the fall, in November or December, so we may talk things 
over thoroughly von Mann zu Mann.

With friendly greetings, Heil Hitler! Yours, H. Himmler
     
P. S. I would consider it proper, however, if  in the future 
you make a clear distinction for your listeners between 
the recognition of  scholarly research and the personal and 
political attitude of  the researcher.

OSSIETZKY
Carl von Ossietzky was a German pacifist and editor, 
who openly opposed the rise of  Nazism. In 1929, 
he published an article that revealed that the German 
Empire was breaching the Treaty of  Versailles by 
secretly training an air unit. He was convicted of  
treason and served eighteen months in prison. 
The Nazis arrested Ossietzky again in 1933 and 
transferred him to a concentration camp. In 1936, it 
was announced that Ossietzky, still alive, had won the 
Nobel Peace Prize. Hitler was furious and decreed that 
henceforth no German could accept any Nobel Prize.

THE SPIRIT OF EINSTEIN’S SPIRIT
In December 1935 Stark singled out Heisenberg as 
“the spirit of  Einstein’s spirit”. Heisenberg responded 
with an even-tempered defense of  theoretical phys-
ics, including relativity, in a Nazi newspaper. However, 
the editors appended a counter-attack by Stark that 
dismissed Heisenberg’s work as “an aberration of  the 
Jewish mind”. 

JOHN VON NEUMANN 
— MATHEMATICIAN
1903 Budapest, 
Austria-Hungary

HANS BETHE 
— PHYSICIST
1906 Strasbourg, 
German Empire

HOUTERMANS’ LOT         
When Hitler came to power in 1933, Houtermans’ wife insisted that they 
would leave Germany because he had Jewish ancestry and was a member 
of  the Communist Party. After a two-year stay in Britain, they immigrated 
to the Soviet Union. In December 1937, Houtermans was arrested as part 
of  Stalin’s “Great Purge”. He was tortured and “confessed” to be a politi-
cal dissident and German spy. In May 1940, as part of  the Molotov-Ribben-
trop Pact, Houtermans was turned over by the Soviets to the Gestapo and 
imprisoned in Berlin. Max von Laue, however, lobbied for his release, and 
in August 1940 Houtermans was set free. 

HAHN’S NOBEL PRIZE
Otto Hahn learned from an announcement in the 
Daily Telegraph of  16 November 1945 that he won 
the 1944 Nobel Prize in Chemistry for the discovery 
of  nuclear fission. The British authorities did not 
allow him to leave Farm Hall in order to attend the 
awards ceremony. Hahn eventually received his prize 
at the Nobel Prize Gala of  1946.

SZILÁRD’S TRIAL
“I was just about to lock the door of  my hotel room  
when there was a knock on the door and there stood  
a Russian officer and a young Russian civilian. I had 
expected something of  this sort ever since the President 
signed the terms of  unconditional surrender and the 
Russians landed a token occupation force in New York. 
The officer handed me something that looked like a 
warrant and said that I was under arrest as a war 
criminal on the basis of  my activities during the Second 
World War in connection with the atomic bomb. 
… Apparently, they were rounding up all the scientists 
who had ever worked in the field of  atomic energy.”
— My Trial as a War Criminal (science fiction novel), 1961

EINSTEIN ON DOING NOTHING
“Had I known that the Germans would not succeed 
in developing an atomic bomb, I would have done 
nothing for the bomb. [O]ur situation would have 
been much better if  the emergency had not come 
about so quickly.”  

 

ROTBLAT ON MORALITY
“A scientist is a human being 
first, and a scientist second.” 

VON BRAUN’S UNCLES
Wernher von Braun did not care whether 
he worked for Uncle Joe or Uncle Sam: “All 
I really wanted was an uncle who was rich.”

FRITZ HABER ON DUTY
“A scientist belongs to his 
country in times of  war and to 
all mankind in times of  peace.”

SZILÁRD ON THE DRAFT
“Einstein dictated a letter to Teller in German 
and I used the text of  that letter as a basis  
for two more drafts, one comparatively short 
and one rather longer, both addressed to the 
President. I left it to Einstein to decide which  
he preferred. He chose the longer draft.”

SACHS ON SZILÁRD’S HALO
“We really only needed Einstein in order to 
provide Szilárd with a ‘halo’, as he was then 
almost unknown in the United States. Actually 
Einstein played no other part in this affair.”

TELLER ON THE DRAFT
“Einstein only signed his name. I believe 
that at that time he had no clear idea of  
what we were doing in nuclear physics.”

EINSTEIN SIMPLY SIGNED IT
Einstein: “I really only acted as a letter-
box. They brought me a letter all ready 
for signature and I simply signed it.”

EINSTEIN’S GREAT MISTAKE
“I made one great mistake in my life – 
when I signed the lettter to President 
Roosevelt recommending that atom 
bombs be made; but there was some 
justification – the danger that the 
Germans would make them.”

WEISSKOPF’S IMPRESSION OF TRINITY
“Our first feeling was one of  elation, then we realized 
we were tired, and then we were worried.” 
 

SZILÁRD ON TRUMAN’S DECISION TO USE THE BOMB, 
15 AUGUST 1960
“Truman did not understand what was involved. You can see that 
from the language he used. Truman announced the bombing of  
Hiroshima while he was at sea coming back from Potsdam, and 
his announcement contained the phrase … ‘We have spent two 
billion dollars on the greatest scientific gamble in history – and 
won’. To put the atomic bomb in terms of  having gambled two 
billion dollars and having ‘won’ offended my sense of  proportions, 
and I concluded at that time that Truman did not understand at 
all what was involved.”

SCHUMANN’S CONTINUED SUPPORT
In December 1941 Erich Schumann, the head of  army research 
in Berlin, told the German uranium scientists that their re-
search would receive continued support provided there was 
a reasonable chance of  “attaining an application in the foreseable 
future”. A report from a meeting between Heisenberg and 
Schumann in February 1942 stated that: “In the present 
situation preparations should be made for the technical 
development and utilization of  atomic energy. The enormous 
significance that it has for the energy economy in general and 
for the Wehrmacht in particular justifies such preliminary 
research, all the more in that this problem is also being worked 
on intensively in the enemy nations, especially in the US.”

VON LAUE ON INVENTION
Houtermans was shocked when he heard that Heisenberg 
and Weizsäcker were investigating the application of  nuclear 
chain reactions. Von Laue consoled him: “My dear colleague, 
no one ever invents anything he does not really want to invent.”

SOVIET ATOMIC BOMB PROJECT
In September 1942, in addition to Flerov’s letter, Stalin had evidence 
of  the secret nuclear project of  the Allies. He initiated an atomic 
bomb project and appointed Igor Kurchatov, the “father of  the Soviet 
atomic bomb”, as its scientific director. The project stalled during 
the first few years because of  the war against Nazi Germany. 

WERNER K. HEISENBERG
— PHYSICIST
1901 Würzburg, German Empire

BELGIUM URANIUM
At first Szilárd wanted to advise Belgium, which was 
mining uranium in its colony in Congo, to sell uranium 
ore only to the US and not to Nazi Germany. Knowing 
that Einstein had corresponded with the German-born 
Queen Elizabeth of  Belgium after meeting her in 1925, 
he thought Einstein could contact her and alarm her 
son’s government.

SACHS TO ROOSEVELT, 11 OCTOBER 1939
“In view of  the danger of  German invasion of  Belgium, 
it becomes urgent to make arrangements – preferably 
through diplomatic channels – with the Union Minière 
du Haut-Katanga, whose head office is at Brussels, 
to make available abundant supplies of  uranium to 
the United States.”

EINSTEIN TO SACHS, 7 MARCH 1940
“Since the outbreak of  the war, interest in uranium has 
intensified in Germany. I have now learned that research 
there is being carried out in great secrecy and that it 
has been extended to another of  the Kaiser Wilhelm 
institutes, the institute of  Physics. The latter has been 
taken over by the Government and a group of  physicists, 
under the leadership of  C. F. von Weizsäcker, who is 
now working there on uranium in collaboration with the 
Institute of  Chemistry.” 

GERMAN URANIUM 
The reference to the Bohemian mines and the close fam-
ily ties between a high-ranking member of  Hitler’s foreign 
office (Chief  of  State Secretary Ernst von Weizsäcker, Carl 
Friedrich’s father) and the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute, signalled 
that Nazi Germany had the natural and intellectual sources 
to develop science-based nuclear power.

VOLUNTARY CENSORSHIP
At the beginning of  1939, Szilárd told Fermi, who at 
the time was working at Columbia University in New 
York, of  the possibility of  an arms race and suggested 
a voluntary censorship. Fermi disagreed. Szilárd tried 
to convince other colleagues, but initially only Wigner, 
Teller, and Weisskopf  approved of  the idea. Moreover, 
in France, Frédéric Joliot-Curie replicated the Fermi 
and Szilárd fission experiments and published the 
results in Nature. Over the course of  1939, however, 
an increasing number of  Allied physicists started 
to hedge out German colleagues, reasoning that the 
subjects of  a totalitarian state could be forced into 
malicious applications of  scientific knowledge. Thus 
Szilárd’s convictions became widespread, first in main-
land Europe, then in Britain, and later in the US.

SZILÁRD TO FRÉDÉRIC JOLIOT–CURIE, 
2 FEBRUARY 1939
“When Hahn’s paper reached [the US] about a fortnight 
ago, a few of  us at once got interested in the question 
whether neutrons are liberated in the disintegration 
of  uranium. Obviously, if  more than one neutron were 
liberated, a sort of  chain-reaction would be possible. 
In certain circumstances this might then lead to the 
construction of  bombs which would be extremely 
dangerous in general and particularly in the hands of  
certain Governments. We all hope that there will be no 
or at least not sufficient neutron emission and therefore 
nothing to worry about.”

OTTO ROBERT FRISCH
— PHYSICIST
1904 Vienna, Austria-Hungary

KLAUS E. J. FUCHS
— PHYSICIST
1911 Rüsselsheim, German Empire

THE FRISCH–PEIERLS MEMORANDUM, MARCH 1940 
Memorandum on the properties of  a radioactive “super-
bomb”
 
The attached detailed report concerns the possibility of  
constructing a “super-bomb”,which utilizes the energy 
stored in atomic nuclei as a source of  energy. The energy 
liberated in the explosion of  such a super-bomb is about  
the same as that produced by the explosion of  1,000 tons 
of  dynamite. This energy is liberated in a small volume,  
in which it will, for an instant, produce a temperature 
comparable to that in the interior of  the sun. The blast 
from such an explosion would destroy life in a wide area. 
The size of  this area is difficult to estimate, but it will 
probably cover the centre of  a big city.
[…]
In order to produce such a bomb it is necessary to treat 
a substantial amount of  uranium by a process, which will 
separate the light isotope from the uranium… 
Methods for the separation of  such isotopes have recently 
been developed. 
[…]
We do not feel competent to discuss the strategic value of  
such a bomb, but the following conclusions seem certain:

— As a weapon, the super-bomb would be practically 
irresistible. There is no material or structure that could 
be expected to resist the force of  the explosion.

—  Owing to the spread of  radioactive substances with the 
wind, the bomb could probably not be used without 
killing large numbers of  civilians, and this may make 

 it unsuitable as a weapon for use by this country. (Use 
as a depth charge near a naval base suggests itself, but 
even there it is likely that it would cause great loss of  
civilian life by flooding and by the radioactive radiations.)

— We have no information that the same idea has also 
occurred to other scientists but since all the theoretical 
data bearing on this problem are published, it is quite 
conceivable that Germany is, in fact, developing this 
weapon. … At the same time it is quite possible that 
nobody in Germany has yet realized that the separation 
of  the uranium isotopes would make the construction 
of  a super-bomb possible. Hence it is of  extreme impor-
tance to keep this report secret since any rumour about 
the connection between uranium separation and a 
super-bomb may set a German scientist thinking along 
the right lines.

—  If  one works on the assumption that Germany is, or will 
be, in the possession of  this weapon, it must be realized 
that no shelters are available that would be effective 
and that could be used on a large scale. The most 
effective reply would be a counter-threat with a similar 
bomb. Therefore it seems to us important to start 
production as soon and as rapidly as possible, even if  

 it is not intended to use the bomb as a means of  attack.

 

WIGNER TO BRIGGS, SPRING 1941
“[Houtermans says] that a large number of  German 
physicists are working intensively on the problem of  
the uranium bomb under direction of  Heisenberg, 
that Heisenberg himself  tries to delay the work as 
much as possible, fearing catastrophic results of  a 
success. But he cannot help fulfilling the orders given 
to him, and if  the problem can be solved, it will be 
solved probably in the near future. So he gave the ad-
vice to us to hurry up if  U.S.A will not come too late.”

AN OBJECTIVE TOUCH
William L. Laurence, a well-respected and Pulitzer Prize-winning 
science journalist at the New York Times, was asked by General 
Groves to join the public relations staff  of  the Manhattan Project. 
More specifically, he was asked to provide the project’s texts 
with a more “objective touch” and with more authority, thus 
setting the tone for the rhetoric of  nuclearism. Laurence, who 
would coin the expression “the Atomic Age”, was praised for the 
high quality of  his official press releases, which were effective in 
their attempt to “control the situation” and steer public opinion.

THE EIGHT DAY WONDER
Laurence’s writing often betrayed his deep personal sense of  
awe, bordering on worship of  the atomic bomb, and religious im-
agery is ubiquitous in his texts. After seeing the reactor at the 
Hanford Site in Washington, he wrote to his editor of  “an Eight 
Day wonder, a sort of  Second Coming of  Christ”.

LET THERE BE LIGHT
Laurence witnessed firsthand the Trinity test: “Up it went, a great 
ball of  fire about a mile in diameter, changing colors as it kept 
shooting upward, from deep purple to orange, expanding, grow-
ing bigger, rising as it expanded, an elemental force freed from 
its bonds after being chained for billions of  years. For a fleeting 
instant the color was unearthly green, such as one sees only in the 
corona of  the sun during a total eclipse. It was as though the earth 
had opened and the skies had split. One felt as though one were 
present at the moment of  creation when God said: ‘Let there be 
light.’ … Prometheus had broken his bonds and brought a new fire 
down to the earth. The cloud, took the form for a fleeting instant 
of  a gigantic Statue of  Liberty, its arm raised to the sky, symbol-
izing the birth of  a new freedom for man...”

HITLER WILL MAKE ONE IN LESS TIME
At the 1939 conference of  the American Physical Society, 
where the discovery of  uranium fission was discussed, 
journalist William L. Laurence asked Fermi and Bohr: 
“Does all this add up to an atomic bomb?” They both 
answered that theoretically, this might be possible 
someday, but probably not for twenty-five years or so. 
This did not satisfy Laurence, who commented that 
“maybe Hitler will make one in much less time”.

IT’S A BOY! 
General Groves sent a triumphant coded cable to Secretary of  
War Henry Stimson at the Potsdam conference reporting the 
success of  the Trinity test: “Doctor has just returned most en-
thusiastic and confident that the little boy is as husky as his big 
brother. The light in his eyes discernible from here to Highhold 
[Stimson’s country home], and I could have heard his screams 
from here to my farm.” Stimson, in turn, informed Churchill by 
writing him a note that read “Babies satisfactorily born”. 

WE HAVE SINNED AGAINST THE LAWS OF GOD
From the start, ethical considerations about Hiroshima 
came mainly from church leaders and religious publi-
cations. On 5 March 1946, the Federal Council of
Churches released a powerful report, signed by twenty-
two prominent Protestant religious leaders: “As 
American Christians, we are deeply penitent for the 
irresponsible use already made of  the atomic bomb. 
We are agreed that, whatever be one’s judgment of  
war in principle, the surprise bombings of  Hiroshima 
and Nagasaki are morally indefensible. …They repeat-
ed in a ghastly form the indiscriminate slaughter of  
noncombatants that has become familiar during 
World War II. They were loosed without specific 
warning, under conditions which virtually assured 
the deaths of  100,000 civilians”.They argued that 
the use of  the bomb may have shortened the war 
somewhat but that “the moral cost was too high” 
and would “affect gravely the future of  mankind”. 
As the nation that first used the weapon, they said: 
“we have sinned grievously against the laws of  God 
and against the people of  Japan. Without seeking 
to apportion blame among individuals we are com-
pelled to judge our chosen course inexcusable.”

GOD FOUGHT ON OUR SIDE
Response from those who participated in the Hiroshima 
decision came quickly. Arthur H. Compton, a minister’s 
son, sent a letter to Bishop Oxnam, a council leader, 
expressing his grave concern over the call for abandoning 
atomic weapons. “God had fought on our side during the 
war”, he argued, “supplying free men with weapons that 
tyranny could not produce”. According to Compton, the 
US now had the “inescapable obligation to keep these 
weapons ready for the protection of  freedom in a warlike 
world. This is a duty God demands of  those who claim 
the right to live in peace and freedom”.

KILLING TO SAVE LIVES
Fulton J. Sheen, a monsignor at Catholic University, 
declared that the attack on Hiroshima was contrary 
to moral law, as it failed to make the moral distinction 
between civilians and the military. The claim of  killing 
to save lives “was precisely the argument Hitler used 
in bombing Holland. ... Once the primary consideration 
is the winning of  a war without regard to the justice 
of  war, then all men are reduced to vermin and all 
appeals to justice are voided”.

OUTDOING HITLER IN ATROCITIES 
Stimson went to President Truman with his concerns on 6 June 1945. 
His diary records the following exchange: “I told him that I was busy consid-
ering our conduct of  the war against Japan and I told him how I was trying 
to hold the Air Force down to precision bombing [of  military/industrial 
targets, rather than civilians] but that with the Japanese method of  scatter-
ing its manufacture it was rather difficult to prevent area bombing. I told 
him I was anxious about this feature of  the war for two reasons: first, be-
cause I did not want to have the United States get the reputation of  outdo-
ing Hitler in atrocities; and second, I was a little fearful that before we could 
get ready the Air Force might have Japan so thoroughly bombed out that the 
new weapon [the atomic bomb] would not have a fair background to show 
its strength. He laughed and said he understood. Owing to the shortness of  
time I did not get through any further matters on my agenda.”

MIGHT BE A FRANKENSTEIN
On 31 May 1945, Stimson explained to the scientists 
his attitude as well as that of  the army towards the 
Manhattan Project: “I told them that we did not re-
gard it as a new weapon merely but as a revolutionary 
change in the relations of  man to the universe and 
that we wanted to take advantage of  this; that the 
project might even mean the doom of  civilization or it 
might mean the perfection of  civilization; that it might 
be a Frankenstein which would eat us up or it might 
be a project by which the peace of  the world would be 
helped in becoming secure.”

THE GREATEST THING IN HISTORY
On 6 August, as he was returning from the Potsdam conference on board 
the USS Augusta, Truman received the message from Stimson that Hiro-
shima had been successfully bombed. In his excitement, Truman grabbed 
the officer carrying the message crying: “this is the greatest thing in his-
tory!” Later at dinner he announced: “we have just dropped a new bomb 
on Japan which has more power than twenty tons of  TNT. It has been an 
overwhelming success!” The crew cheered and Truman himself, according 
to a reporter, “was not actually laughing but there was a broad smile on 
his face”.

BELLYLAUGHING AT THE ENTERTAINMENT
Later that evening, Truman went to the officers’ ward to make the same 
announcement and declared: “We won the gamble.” He said that he had 
never been happier about any announcement he had ever made. Newsweek 
later reported that he then went off  to attend a comedy revue put on by 
the crew, “bellylaughing at the entertainment”.

GERMAN SCIENTISTS IN RUSSIA DID IT
Truman’s first response to the Soviet nuclear detonation 
in 1949 was that “German scientists in Russia did it”. 
Soon afterwards he apparently expressed doubts about 
whether the Soviets really had a usable atomic bomb, 
despite clear evidence that they did. (Three years before 
that, when Oppenheimer told him he did not know when 
the Soviets might be able to build the weapon, Truman’s 
answer had been confident: “I, know. Never”.

ONE WORLD OR NONE
In 1946, just months after atomic bombs were 
dropped on Hiroshima and Nagasaki, the scientists 
who had developed nuclear technology came together 
to express their concerns and thoughts about the 
nuclear age they had unleashed. In a publication of  
essays, titled One World or None, scientists including 
Szilárd, Bohr, Einstein, and Oppenheimer tried to 
help readers understand the magnitude of  their 
scientific breakthrough, fret openly about the impli-
cations for world policy, and caution, in the words of  
chemist Harold C. Urey, that “There Is No Defense”.

THE BEGINNING, OR THE END
The same combination of  urgency and optimism fuelled 
the scientists’ involvement in the first Hollywood movie 
about Hiroshima and the bomb. A few weeks after the 
Hiroshima attack, when the producers of  the film visited 
Oak Ridge, Dr. Edward Tomkins, a chemist, greeted 
them with the words: “We are very happy you are here. 
We hope you can soon tell the world the meaning of  
this bomb, because we are scared to death!” Then the 
producers went to Washington, where they won the 
approval of  the Federation of  Atomic Scientists. Their 
visit culminated in a meeting with President Truman 
at the White House. After describing his own experience 
with the bomb, Truman said: “Make your film, gentlemen, 
and put this message into your picture – tell the men and 
women of  the world that they are at the beginning, or the 
end.” “Mr. President”, replied producer and screenwriter 
Samuel Marx, “you have just chosen the title of  our film”.

ATOMIC POWER!           
In 1946, many involved in the process that led to the 
making of  the atomic bomb participated in the shoot-
ing of  a short documentary about the nuclear age 
in the series The March of Time. Military and govern-
ment officials insisted on a positive treatment of  the 
Hiroshima decision, but scientists inserted a plea for 
international control. Many of  them felt so strongly 
about the propaganda value of  the film, which was 
titled Atomic Power!, that they agreed to play them-
selves in the re-enactments – even though they must 
have known that they looked awkward, even ridiculous 
on screen. Once again for the camera, Szilárd helped 
Einstein write his pivotal letter to Roosevelt (sparking 
America’s atomic programme) and Oppenheimer 
lectured at Los Alamos. James Conant and Vannegar 
Bush are seen somberly shaking hands in the desert   
– actually the dirt-covered floor of  a warehouse in 
Harvard square – after the successful Trinity test.

OPPENHEIMER’S DOUBT
In mid-October, Oppenheimer retired as director 
of  Los Alamos, on a day that celebrated the lab’s 
achievements. Each worker received a silver pin 
stamped with a large “A” and a small “bomb”.  
Oppenheimer, characteristically, cast doubt on 
their accomplishments. “If  atomic bombs are to 
be added as new weapons to the arsenals of  a 
warring world, or to the arsenals of  nations pre-
paring for war”, he remarked in a short speech, 
“then the time will come when mankind will curse 
the names of  Los Alamos and of  Hiroshima”. 

START OF OUR OWN MORAL AWAKENING
In May 2016, as the first serving US president, Obama 
visited Hiroshima, where he delivered the following speech:
“Seventy-one years ago, on a bright cloudless morning, 
death fell from the sky and the world was changed. A flash 
of  light and a wall of  fire destroyed a city and demonstrat-
ed that mankind possessed the means to destroy itself. 
Why do we come to this place, to Hiroshima? We come 
to ponder a terrible force unleashed in a not-so-distant 
past. We come to mourn the dead, including over 100,000 
Japanese men, women and children, thousands of  Koreans, 
a dozen Americans held prisoner.
[…] 
The world war that reached its brutal end in Hiroshima 
and Nagasaki was fought among the wealthiest and most 
powerful of  nations. Their civilizations had given the world 
great cities and magnificent art. Their thinkers had ad-
vanced ideas of  justice and harmony and truth. And yet 
the war grew out of  the same base instinct for domination 
or conquest that had caused conflicts among the simplest 
tribes, an old pattern amplified by new capabilities and 
without new constraints.
[…]
Yet in the image of  a mushroom cloud that rose into these 
skies, we are most starkly reminded of  humanity’s core 
contradiction. How the very spark that marks us as a 
species, our thoughts, our imagination, our language, our 
toolmaking, our ability to set ourselves apart from nature 
and bend it to our will  those very things also give us the 
capacity for unmatched destruction.

How often does material advancement or social innovation 
blind us to this truth? How easily we learn to justify violence 
in the name of  some higher cause.
[…]
The scientific revolution that led to the splitting of  an atom 
requires a moral revolution as well.That is why we come to 
this place. We stand here in the middle of  this city and 
force ourselves to imagine the moment the bomb fell. We 
force ourselves to feel the dread of  children confused by 
what they see. We listen to a silent cry. We remember all 
the innocents killed across the arc of  that terrible war and 
the wars that came before and the wars that would follow.
Mere words cannot give voice to such suffering. But we 
have a shared responsibility to look directly into the eye of  
history and ask what we must do differently to curb such 
suffering again. Some day, the voices of  the hibakusha will 
no longer be with us to bear witness. But the memory of  
the morning of  Aug. 6, 1945, must never fade. That memo-
ry allows us to fight complacency. It fuels our moral imagi-
nation. It allows us to change.
[…]
We must change our mind-set about war itself. To prevent 
conflict through diplomacy and strive to end conflicts after 
they’ve begun. To see our growing interdependence as a 
cause for peaceful cooperation and not violent competition. 
To define our nations not by our capacity to destroy but by 
what we build. And perhaps, above all, we must reimagine 
our connection to one another as members of  one human 
race. For this, too, is what makes our species unique. We’re 
not bound by genetic code to repeat the mistakes of  the 
past. We can learn. We can choose. We can tell our children 
a different story, one that describes a common humanity, one 
that makes war less likely and cruelty less easily accepted.
[…]
Those who died, they are like us. Ordinary people under-
stand this, I think. They do not want more war. They would 
rather that the wonders of  science be focused on improv-
ing life and not eliminating it. When the choices made by 
nations, when the choices made by leaders, reflect this 
simple wisdom, then the lesson of  Hiroshima is done.The 
world was forever changed here, but today the children of  
this city will go through their day in peace. What a precious 
thing that is. It is worth protecting, and then extending to 
every child. That is a future we can choose, a future in which 
Hiroshima and Nagasaki are known not as the dawn of  atomic 
warfare but as the start of  our own moral awakening.”

SPEER’S DISAPPOINTMENT 
For Speer himself, the meeting with Heisenberg was disappointing. 
He returned to his office convinced by Heisenberg that there 
was no hope of  a German bomb: “we got the view that the devel-
opment was very much at the beginning ... the physicists them-
selves didn’t want to put much into it.”

When Speer offered him virtually unlimited resources to work 
on a German atomic bomb, Heisenberg spurned the offer. Later 
on, Heisenberg’s research group asked for only relatively small 
amounts of  money and material resources, stating that more 
support could anyhow “not be utilized for the present”. Speer 
noted in his autobiography that he was “rather put out by these 
modest requests in a matter of  such crucial importance”.

KRISTALLNACHT
On the night of  9–10 November 1938, civilians and 
paramilitaries unleashed a series of  attacks on 
Jews and Jewish establishments throughout Nazi 
Germany. During Kristallnacht at least 91 Jews 
were killed and 30,000 were sent to concentration 
camps. Many Jewish buildings and businesses were 
demolished, including hospitals, schools, and more 
than 1,000 synagogues.

PSYCHOANALYSIS UNDER HITLER
Psychoanalysis in Nazi Germany was under 
the effective control of  Professor M. H. Göring, 
brother of  Hermann Göring. Professor Göring 
made clear that Freud’s books were no longer 
needed, because Hitler’s Mein Kampf would be 
the textbook for psychoanalysis. 

DEVILISH INVENTION
In May 1941, Max Born was working with 
the brilliant young German refugee Klaus 
Fuchs at the University of  Edinburgh. Born 
told Fuchs that he thought atom bombs a 
“devilish invention”, and urged him to have 
nothing to do with them. But Fuchs was 
determined to do his part in fighting Hitler.
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THE JEW COULD ONLY THINK JEWISH
At the universities, the students were among the most 
vocal proponents of  National Socialist policy. On 13 
April, the German Students Association announced 
it’s “Against the Un-Gemran Spirit”, which  would 
climax in public book burnings on 10 May. Among 
the pronouncements in the twelve-point declaration 
was this: “the Jew could only think Jewish, and when 
he wrote German he was lying; students should view 
Jews as aliens, and Jewish works should appear in 
Hebrew, or at least be designated as translations if  
they are printed in German; students and professors 
should be selected ‘according to their guarantee of  
thinking in the German spirit’.”

LISE MEITNER 
Lise Meitner was the first woman in Germany to assume 
the post of  Full Professor in Physics, at the University 
of  Berlin. In 1935, as Head of  the Physics Department 
of  the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Chemistry in Berlin-
Dahlem, she and Otto Hahn, the director of  the Insti-
tute, undertook the so called “transuranium research” 
programme. This programme eventually led to the un-
expected discovery of  nuclear fission wherein uranium 
absorbs an extra neutron. After the Anschluss of  Austria 
into Nazi Germany in March 1938, she fled from Berlin 
to the Netherlands, ultimately settling in Sweden.

HARMLESS TOYS
Pascual Jordan was a theoretical and mathematical physicist, 
best known for his contributions to quantum mechanics. He 
joined the Nazi Party in 1933, as well as a Sturmabteilung unit. 
As early as 1935 he predicted that “a not too distant future may 
have at its disposal technical energy sources which make a 
Niagara power station appear trifling and explosive materials in 
comparison to which all present explosives are harmless toys”. 
He saw a direct relationship between the Führerprinzip in Nazism 
and the behaviour of  molecules and sub-atomic particles, where 
a small group of  molecules are endowed with dictatorial authority 
over the total organism.

  

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE URANPROJEKT
Harteck’s letter reached Diebner, who advised the Reich 
Ministry of  Armaments and War on military research. 
Diebner quickly secured funding for a nuclear research 
department under military auspices. On 1 September 
1939, the day Germany invaded Poland, the Reich  
Ministry of  Armaments and War established the  
Uranprojekt, with Diebner as its director. The ministry 
proceeded to take over control from the Ministry of  
Education: it declared all nuclear research classified, 
discontinued the work of  the initial ‘uranium club’ 
(which had been done mostly at the University of   
Göttingen), and put the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for 
Physics in Berlin under its control for the purpose of  
the Uranprojekt.

THE DISTANT FUTURE 
Towards the end of  the war, the Nazis appeared, for pragmatic 
reasons, to change their minds about the Jüdische Physik:  
in January 1945, head of  the Sicherheitsdienst, Otto Ohlendorf, 
accused Speer of  neglecting the Jewish science of  atomic physics. 
Speer had already made up his mind in June 1942, concluding on 
the basis of  Heisenberg’s briefing that a uranium or plutonium 
bomb was something that belonged to the distant future. 

ENEMY ALIEN
After Kristallnacht, Klaus Fuchs fled to England, 
arriving on 24 September 1933. He started working 
as a research assistant at the University of  Bristol, 
where he earned his PhD in physics in 1937. 
Later on, he became the assistant of  Max Born, 
himself  a German refugee, at the University of  
Edinburgh. In June 1940, Fuchs was classified as 
an “enemy alien”, and was interned at the Isle of  
Man before being sent to an internment camp in 
Sherbrooke, Quebec, Canada. On Christmas Day 
1940, he was allowed to return to Britain. Later, on 
7 August 1942, he was granted British citizenship.

SUCH MINIMAL SUPPORT
Albert Speer said afterwards, in 1953: “I do 
hope Heisenberg is not now claiming that they 
tried, for reasons of  principle, to sabotage the 
project by asking for such minimal support.”

A “TRAGIC ASPECT” OF EINSTEIN’S LIFE
Heisenberg went as far as to say it was a “tragic aspect” 
of  Einstein’s life that the infamies of  Nazism moved 
him to urge Roosevelt to develop an atomic bomb which 
would kill “as many thousands of  women and children 
who were just as guiltless as those for whom Einstein 
was anxious to intercede”.

 

MUCH MORE GENEROUS THAN THE ENGLISH 
Heisenberg threatened his British captors with crossing to the 
Russian side. He read a draft letter out to Hahn saying: “I would 
consider if  I shouldn’t go to the Russians after all... The Russians 
are much more generous than the English… I don’t know at all 
that the future of  Europe does not lie with the Russians after all... 
If  the Americans leave Europe, then we are bound to work with 
the Russians... I don’t want to do petty physics... If  the final deci-
sion is that I can’t do any proper physics and I go back to Germany 
again, naturally they, too, will realize that I am then going to 
consider doing physics with the Russians after all...” 

COPERNICUS PRIZE
In May 1943, Hans Frank, Governor-General of  occupied Poland and formerly 
Hitler’s personal lawyer, used the award of  a “Copernicus Prize” (Copernicus 
having been Germanized) to invite Heisenberg to stay with him during the 
ceremony in the Wawel Castle in Krakow. Heisenberg abjectly replied, noting 
his special pleasure in receiving the prize as it could be interpreted as yet an-
other case of  the rehabilitation of  theoretical physics. The visit was postponed 
for various reasons, but eventually Heisenberg, having accepted the prize, gave 
a lecture in occupied Krakow on 15 December 1943. At the Nuremberg trials, 
Frank was found guilty of  war crimes and crimes against humanity and was 
sentenced to death by hanging. Heisenberg would explain that he had found it 
hard to turn down an invitation from an old school friend.

MUST WE HOPE THAT WE LOSE THE WAR?
In June 1942, Gian Carlo Wick, nuclear physicist and a former 
assistant of  Enrico Fermi in Rome, visited Heisenberg for several 
days, first in Berlin-Dahlem, then in Leipzig. The subject of  German 
research on nuclear fission was not raised. But they did talk about 
war and politics, with Heisenberg following: “Well then, what do you 
think Herr Wick, about the war, must we hope that we lose the war?” 
When Wick subsequently expressed his fear of  a Nazi regime reign-
ing Europe for the rest of  his life, Heisenberg responded that the 
rise to power of  “those people” was due to the turmoil following the 
First World War. He used the simile of  a glass of  water with some 
mud at the bottom. “If  you stir the water”, he said, “the scum rises 
to the surface; all the water looks muddy. But give it a chance to 
rest for a while, and the mud will sink to the bottom, the water will 
be clear again”.
 
   

TELLER’S WEAPONS FOR PEACE
“I chose the profession of  a scientist and I am in love with 
science; and I would not do willingly or eagerly anything else 
but pure science, because it is beautiful and my interest is 
there. I don’t like weapons. I would like to have peace. But 
for peace we need weapons and I do not think my views are 
distorted. I believe I am contributing to a peaceful world.”

WAR AS BIOLOGICAL NECESSITY
A postwar British report on the Copenhagen visit con-
cluded that though Heisenberg was not a Nazi, he was 
an: “intense nationalist, with the characteristic German 
deference to the authorities in control of  the nation. 
He is said to have expressed the opinion that war is a 
biological necessity.”

SAD AND IRONIC
In his book Alsos, Samuel Goudsmit describes meeting Heisenberg after 
his surrender: “I had just returned to Heidelberg when Heisenberg was 
brought in. I greeted my old friend and former colleague cordially. Purely 
on the impulse of  the moment I said, ‘Wouldn’t you want to come to 
America now and work with us?’ 
But he was still too impressed by his own importance and that of  his 
work, to which he ascribed his internment. ‘No, I don’t want to leave,’ he 
said. ‘Germany needs me.’ He had said the same thing so of  ten before, 
but now it was probably true. Provided, that was, his contact with Nazism 
had not changed him too much. He had already lost the confidence of  
several of  his anti-Nazi colleagues. ‘If  American colleagues wish to learn 
about the uranium problem,’ he said, ‘I shall be glad to show them the 
results of  our researches if  they come to my laboratory.’ It was sad and 
ironic listening to him say this, when I was aware how much more we 
knew about the problem than he did. But I could not tell him about the 
Allied progress, and so I did not contradict him. I merely thanked him for 
his offer and left him secure in the belief  that his work was ahead of  ours.”

HITLER’S LACK OF INTEREST 
Von Ardenne asked Postal Minister Ohnesorge to inform
Hitler about the possibility of  a uranium bomb, which he did 
at a cabinet meeting. “Look here, gentlemen”, said Hitler. 
“While you experts are worrying about how to win this war, 
here is our Postal Minister who brings the solution.” 
 

HOW COULD YOU EVER THINK THESE WERE IMPORTANT ISSUES
In the course of  their sharp-edged correspondence in the late 1940s 
Heisenberg told Goudsmit that, although he had been aware of  the  
“horrifying consequences” of  a German victory, he had not wished to 
see Germany defeated because he feared the Allied “hate that Nazism 
had sown”, an abjectly compromising admission that Germany should 
win because of  the threat of  Allied revenge on Nazi evil. Goudsmit was 
especially infuriated by Heisenberg’s attempt to excuse himself  and his 
former colleagues by claiming that their contributions to Nazi success 
had merely been “small-scale”. Goudsmit retorted that this was just a 
self-serving rationalization, fabricated for an absurd goal of  preserving 
relativity and quantum theory under Hitler. “How could you ever think 
these were important issues?” he demanded of  Heisenberg.

THE LESSER EVIL
In 1943, Heisenberg visited occupied Holland. During a long walk 
with the Dutch physicist Hendrik Casimir, Heisenberg offered a 
defense of  Nazi conquest. “He began to lecture on history and world-
politics. He explained that it had always been the historic mission 
of  Germany to defend the West and its culture against the onslaught 
of  the Eastern hordes... Neither France nor England would have been 
sufficiently determined and sufficiently strong to play a leading role 
in such a defense, and his conclusion was… ‘da ware vielleicht doch 
ein Europa unter deutscher Führung das kleinere Ubel’ (‘and so perhaps 
a Europe under German leadership might be the lesser evil’). 
Of  course I objected that the many iniquities of  the Nazi regime, 
and especially their cruel and mad anti-Semitism, made this un-
acceptable. Heisenberg did not attempt to deny, still less to defend, 
these things; but he said one should expect a change for the better 
once the war is over. And one had to recognize they were a conse-
quence of  the great power of  the leader that was also part of  the 
German tradition.”

NOT THE POPE
Soon after Heisenberg’s meeting with Speer, Hans Jensen, a friend 
of  Heisenberg’s, made a second trip to see Bohr in Denmark, 
explicitly telling him that the Germans were not working on an 
atomic bomb, but were only building a basic research reactor. Bohr, 
however, said that Heisenberg should deal with his conscience himself  
and asked Jensen to deliver the following message: “Tell professor 
Heisenberg I am not the pope. I cannot give him absolution.”

   

NO BETTER THAN THE MOB
When Einstein was asked to renew his ties with the Kaiser-
Wilhelm Society (now the Max-Planck-Gesellschaft) in 1949, 
Einstein refused, saying: “The crime of  the Germans is truly 
the most abominable ever to be recorded in the history of  the 
so-called civilized nations. The conduct of  the German intel-
lectuals seen as a group was no better than that of  the mob. 
And even now there is no real indication of  any regret or any 
real desire to repair whatever little may be left to restore 
after the gigantic murders. In view of  these circumstances, I 
feel an irrepressible aversion to participating in anything that 
represents any aspect of  public life in Germany.”

SMALL-TIME STUFF
Goudsmit would later comment: “It was so obvious that the 
whole German uranium setup was on a ludicrously small 
scale. Here was the central group of  laboratories, and all it 
amounted to was a little underground cave, a wing of  a small 
textile factory, a few rooms in an old brewery. To be sure, the 
laboratories were well equipped, but compared to what we 
were doing in the United States it was still small-time stuff. 
Sometimes we wondered if  our government had not spent 
more money on our intelligence mission than the Germans 
had spent on their whole project.” 

HIMMLER’S PLANS WITH HEISENBERG
Himmler explained to Heydrich what his plans were with 
Heisenberg: “It would be advisable to bring Professor 
Heisenberg together with Professor Wüst. [...] Wüst must 
then try to make contact with Heisenberg, because we might 
be able to use him in the Ahnenerbe, when eventually it 
becomes a complete academy, for he is a good scientist 
and we might make him co-operate with our people of  the 
Welteislehre.” (The Welteislehre or World Ice Theory was a 
cosmological concept that came to the Austrian inventor 
Hanns Hörbiger in 1894 not through research, but in a “vision”. 
Hörbiger maintained that ice was the basic substance of  the 
universe, a popular theory among the Nazis.)

GOUDSMIT’S PARENTS
My trip gave me the chance to visit the house of  my parents 
in the Hague, where I had been brought up and where I lived 
all during my high school and college days... I dreamed that I 
would find my aged parents at home waiting for me just as 
I had last seen them. Only I knew it was a dream. In March, 
1943, I had received a farewell letter from my mother and fa-
ther bearing the address of  a Nazi concentration camp. It had 
reached me through Portugal. It was the last letter I had ever 
received from them or ever would.

HEISENBERG ON RESPONSIBILITY
“We do not have an old democratic tradition, 
and we Germans are in general grateful when 
we can turn over the responsibility for public 
life to our superior authorities.”

OPPENHEIMER’S UN-AMERICAN ACTIVITIES
In the high years of  McCarthyism, Oppenheimer found himself  in the middle of  more than 
one controversy. On 7 June 1949, he testified before the House Un-American Activities 
Committee that he had associations with the Communist Party in the 1930s. In April and 
May 1954, he was interrogated again in a security meeting. During those hearings, Edward 
Teller testified that he considered Oppenheimer loyal, but did add the following: “In a great 
number of  cases, I have seen Dr. Oppenheimer act – I understand that Dr. Oppenheimer 
acted – in a way which was for me was exceedingly hard to understand. I thoroughly 
disagreed with him on numerous issues and his actions frankly appeared to me confused 
and complicated. To this extent I feel that I would like to see the vital interests of  this 
country in hands which I understand better, and therefore trust more. In this very limited 
sense I would like to express a feeling that I would feel personally more secure if  public 
matters would rest in other hands.” Teller concluded by saying: “if  it is a question of  
wisdom and judgment as demonstrated by actions since 1945, then I would say one 
would be wiser not to grant clearance.” After finishing his testimony, Teller walked over to 
the couch where Oppenheimer sat, shook his hand and said “I’m sorry”.

VON WEIZSÄCKER ON AN INTERNATIONAL ORDER
“The fact that we physicists formed one family was not 
enough. Perhaps we ought to have been an international 
order with disciplinary power over its members. But is 
such a thing really at all practicable in view of  the nature 
of  modern science?”

OPPENHEIMER’S VAIN HOPE
“When it went off, in the New Mexico dawn, that first atomic 
bomb, we thought of  Alfred Nobel, and his hope, his vain 
hope, that dynamite would put an end to wars. We thought 
of  the legend of  Prometheus, of  that deep sense of  guilt in 
man’s new powers, that reflects his recognition of  evil, and 
his long knowledge of  it. We knew that it was a new world, 
but even more we knew that novelty itself  was a very old 
thing in human life, that all our ways are rooted in it.”

TRUMAN’S JUBILATION
On 8 August 1945, a Democratic committeeman sent a telegram to 
Truman expressing discontent over his reported jubilation, stating 
that “no president of  the United States could ever be jubilant over 
any device that could kill innocent human beings. Please make clear 
that it is not destruction but the end of  destruction that is the cause 
of  jubilation.” Truman responded a day later, claiming that “the good 
feeling on my part was over the fact Russia entered the war with 
Japan and not because we had invented a new engine of  destruction”.

A DIPLOMATIC WEAPON
Stimson’s memo was based on his belief  that the State 
Department thought of  the bomb as a “diplomatic weapon”. 
“He believed that the America would browbeat the Russians 
with the bomb ‘held rather ostentatiously on our hip.’”

     

NO POST-WAR PROBLEMS THAT CANNOT BE AMICABLY SETTLED 
When Bohr, together with his son Aage, went to visit Churchill at 
10 Downing Street on 16 May, 1944, he was full of  hopes. In Aage’s 
account: “it was hoped that Churchill, who possessed such imagina-
tion and who had often shown such great vision, would be inspired 
by the new prospects.” Afterwards, however, when asked how the 
meeting had gone, Bohr replied: “It was terrible. He scolded us like 
two schoolboys!” Against all of  Bohr’s warnings about the bomb 
and its repercussions for post-war politics, Churchill had replied: 
“After all this new bomb is just going to be bigger than our present 
bombs. It involves no difference in the principles of  war. And as 
for any post-war problems there are none that cannot be amicably 
settled between me and my friend, President Roosevelt.”

VALUE FOR MONEY 
Szilárd was opposed to using the atomic bomb. In an argument with Byrnes, 
he stated that even just testing the bomb would be unwise, because a test 
would disclose that the bomb existed. Then, however, Byrnes took a turn in 
explaining to Szilárd how domestic politics work, stating that Congress would 
want to know the results of  the two billion dollars it had invested in developing 
the bomb. “How would you get Congress to appropriate money for atomic 
energy research, if  you do not show results for the money which has been 
spent already?” asked Szilárd.     

BOHR MADE THE ENTERPRISE SEEM HOPEFUL    
“Bohr at Los Alamos was marvelous”, Oppenheimer 
told an audience of  scientists after the war. According 
to an unedited transcript of  the same lecture, he said 
that Bohr “made the enterprise which looked so maca-
bre seem hopeful”. In an edited version, that sentence 
became: “He made the enterprise seem hopeful, when 
many were not free of  misgiving.”

SOMEWHAT INEXPERIENCED IN HUMAN AFFAIRS
Victor Weisskopf  supplies another account of  the impact of  Bohr’s presence 
at Los Alamos: “…we were working on something which is perhaps the most 
questionable, the most problematic thing a scientist can be faced with. At 
that time physics, our beloved science, was pushed into the most cruel part 
of  reality and we had to live it through. We were, most of  us at least, young 
and somewhat inexperienced in human affairs, I would say. But suddenly in 
the midst of  it, Bohr appeared in Los Alamos. It was the first time we became 
aware of  the sense in all these terrible things, because Bohr right away 
participated not only in the work, but in our discussions. Every great and 
deep difficulty bears in itself  its own solution... This we learned from him.”

REAGAN AND REVELATION
During his career, Reagan frequently asserted that the 
Armageddon might be at hand, and would be nuclear 
in nature. He confided that a passage in the Bible, 
portraying an invading army from Asia destroyed by 
God, foretold Hiroshima. The passage, Reagan ex-
plained, described a plague during which “the eyes 
are burned from the head and the hair falls from the 
body and so forth”.   

THE PRESSURE OF CERTAIN SITUATIONS
In defending Heisenberg against the accusations in Samuel Goudsmit’s 
book Alsos, Waldemar Kaempffert made the assertian that Nobel Prize 
winners “do not lie.” When Henry Schuman, the publisher of  Alsos, 
asked Einstein whether he agreed with Keampffert’s view, Einstein said: 
“Concerning Nobel Prizewinners, Mr. Kaempffert could only rightly say: 
One does not get the Nobel Prize for lying, but this does not exclude that 
some of  the fortunates may lie under the pressure of  certain situations.”

NOW ALL THIS NIGHTMARE PICTURE HAD VANISHED  
In 1953 Winston Churchill described in his memoirs the 
mutual massacre that he imagined was avoided by the 
unforgettable flight of  the “Enola Gay” over Hiroshima 
and the instantaneous destruction of  the city: “I had 
in my mind the spectacle of  Okinawa island, where 
many thousands of  Japanese, rather than surrender, 
had drawn up in line and destroyed themselves by hand-
grenades after their leaders had solemnly performed 
the rite of  hara-kiri. To quell the Japanese resistance. 
... might well require the loss of  a million American lives 
and half  that number of  British. ... Now all this nightmare 
picture had vanished. In its place was the vision – fair 
and bright indeed it seemed – of  the end of  the whole 
war in one or two violent shocks. ... To avert a vast, 
indefinite butchery, to bring the war to an end, to give 
peace to the world, to lay healing hands upon its tor-
tured peoples by a manifestation of  overwhelming power 
at the cost of  a few explosions, seemed, after all our 
toils and perils, a miracle of  deliverance.”

OPPENHEIMER WOULD HAVE BEEN KNIGHTED
The results of  Oppenheimer’s hearing provoked outrage within 
the scientific community. Oppenheimer was seen as a martyr 
to McCarthyism. Werner von Braun would later counter all this 
suspicion towards Oppenheimer during a Congressional hearing: 
“In England, Oppenheimer would have been knighted.”
As a result of  his testimony, Teller was shunned by a great 
part of  the scientific community. I.I. Rabi once suggested: 
“It would have been a better world without Teller.”

TRUMAN DOES NOT MENTION RADIATION
Since Truman, in this press release after the dropping of  the 
bomb on Hiroshima, just presented the new weapon as more 
destructive and did not make any reference to radiation ef-
fects. He only mentioned in the third paragraph that it was an 
atomic bomb, and therefore the imagery of  just a bigger bomb 
prevailed. Truman properly described the new weapon as “revo-
lutionary” but only in regard to the destruction it could cause, 
failing to mention its most distinctive new feature: radiation.

FRITZ HABER AND THE NAZIS
Haber, who like many Jews had converted to Lutheranism 
in order to advance his academic career, was exempted 
because of  his enormous (military) contributions to 
Germany. Before World War I, he had discovered a method 
to produce cheap ammonia, which was used for producing 
fertilizer and explosives. During World War I, he developed 
and deployed poison gases, and became known as “the 
father of  chemical warfare”.
Haber’s poison gas was first used in the Second Battle 
of  Ypres. Within ten minutes, it killed thousands of  French 
and colonial troops, and blinded tens of  thousands. The 
use of  poison gas was widely regarded to be in breach 
of  the Hague Conventions, but Haber claimed that new 
technology in weapons could save lives since it could 
achieve swift victory; he had argued for an overwhelming 
attack with a much larger volume of  gas, rather than an 
“experiment”. He also said gas warfare was “a higher form 
of  killing”, suggesting that to be injured by gas was better 
than being blown up by a conventional shell. Because of  
Haber’s involvement in the war, there was controversy 
when he received the Nobel Prize in Chemistry in 1918.
Haber’s reputation was such that Nazis offered him fund-
ing for weapons research. At the same time, Haber, as 
the director of  the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Chemistry, 
was forced to fire his Jewish coworkers. After he did this, 
he tried to find them jobs abroad. He then resigned, 
stating that racial considerations were inconsistent with 
his approach to academic appointments, and moved to 
Britain. He died in 1934 while on a voyage to Palestine.

   

SZILÁRD ON EINSTEIN’S RESPONSE TO NUCLEAR 
CHAIN REACTIONS
In the summer of  1939, Szilárd and Wigner visited 
Einstein at his home at Long Island. Szilárd: “The  
possibility of  a chain reaction in uranium had not  
occurred to Einstein. But almost as soon as I began 
to tell him about it he realized what the consequences 
might be and immediately signified his readiness to 
help and if  necessary ‘stick his neck out.’” 

SZILÁRD TO FERMI, 4 JULY 1940
“[W]e have probably ‘missed the bus’ as far as Belgian 
ore is concerned. As far as uranium oxide is concerned, 
[Sachs] has the impression that the Belgians will treat 
it merely as a business matter and if  they are not 
handled skillfully they will charge an exaggerated price 
for the amounts which we need for the large scale 
experiment.”
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